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NGA HIRAHIRATANGA

The year began with a milestone that would
set the tone for everything that followed.

In early 2025, the Te Muriwai o Te Whanga
Plan was presented to whanau at the Mana
Ahuriri AGM and received unanimous support
for its adoption. This strategic framework for
the long-term health and restoration of Te
Whanganui-a-Orotd—our moana, repo, and
wider coastal systems—represented years
of work anchored in matauranga, cultural
values, and collaborative action.

On Friday, February 14th, Te Komiti o Te
Muriwai o Te Whanga gathered at Waiohiki
Marae for a historic hui. The komiti formally
resolved to approve the plan and lodge
copies with Napier City Council, Hastings
District Council, Hawke’s Bay Regional
Council, and the Director General of the
Department of Conservation. Under the
Ahuriri Hapu Claims Settlement Act 2021,
this collective document must now be given
regard by decision-makers in resource
management policy and consents, local
government policy, and conservation
management plans relevant to Te Muriwai o

At Waiohiki Marae, the Rongoa Maori
Symposium drew whanau from across
Aotearoa and Australia, creating a space
that participants described as emotionally
uplifting and spiritually grounding. Dr
Charlotte Mildon's keynote authentically
wove evidence-based research with
personal narratives, while Jennifer Takuta-
Moses shared healing knowledge from
Waikaremoana, supporting kuia and koroua
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through iliness and grief following recent
floods.

Moana Skipwith-Lousi and Dessa Taukamo
offered practical workshops on rongod for
whanau in the home. Perhaps most striking
was research by Ngati Rangiwaho trustees
Jody Toroa and Kay Robin into psilocybin—
an ancient rongod—and its potential to
support whanau affected by meth addiction,
mental illness, and PTSD. Their vision of
marae being licensed to grow and harvest
this psychoactive rongod represented bold
reimagining of traditional healing.

A memorable achievement was supporting
Ngati PGrau and Ngati Hinepare kaumatua
aspirations to reconnect whanau to Te
Umuroimata Pa by establishing the country’s
largest Miyawaki forest adjacent to the pa.
On August 22nd, working with Natural Urban
Forests and Ngati Parau, the community
planted over 40 species of taonga plants,
bringing together ecological restoration,
climate resilience, and cultural revitalization.

This rapidly growing forest stands as a
living legacy, already acting as a healing
forest with whanau visiting Te Umuroimata
regularly, reconnecting to this beautiful site
where the Taipo Stream flows.

On June 15th at Wharerangi Marae, the
community gathered for a wai monitoring
workshop that beautifully blended
matauranga Maori with modern science.
The Ahuriri Tributaries Catchment Group,

with support from Mana Ahuriri Trust and

Sustainable Hawke’s Bay, facilitated learning

through whakaweku—catching koura using
bundled bracken fern—while participants
gained hands-on experience with water
telescopes and macro invertebrate
identification.

Teachers and kaiako expressed excitement
about integrating this experiential learning
into curriculum. As organizers noted, “The
best part of the day was having fun in our
awa with our awesome community”—
strengthening bonds between people

and place, traditional knowledge and
contemporary understanding.

On June 25th, over 100 whanau rose
before dawn for the Hautapu ceremony

at Pukemokimoki Marae—the Ahurewa
ritual conducted for the first time, marking
Te Tau Hou Maori. Led by Te Roopu Iwi
Trust with support from Mana Ahuriri Trust,
Maungaharuru Tangitd, Te Taiwhenua o Te
Whanganui a Orotu, and Ngati Kahungunu
Inc., the ceremony embodied Whangai i

te Hautapu—feeding the stars with sacred
offerings.

As kai cooked in the hangj, rising steam

carried gratitude and remembrance.
Whanau brought photographs of loved
ones, speaking their names aloud, creating
powerful connection between living and
ancestors. Mike from Audio Smith illuminated
the marae atea for the dawn ceremony,
while ringawera worked tirelessly to feed the
multitude.

The Matariki spirit extended to practical
action. At the National Aquarium carpark,
volunteers gathered at 9am for a beach
cleanup supported by the Ahuriri Estuary
Protection Society, Sustainable Hawke’s Bay,
and Ngati Kahungunu Iwi Inc., embodying the
New Year’s values of reflection and renewal
through environmental stewardship.

On May 25th, a bus carrying 30+ whanau
wound through landscapes of Tamatea
Pokaiwhenua. Under Tipene Cotterell’'s
guidance, participants visited sites
embedded within waiata, touching whenuag,
feeling wairua, tracing whakapapa through
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soil and stone. Koro Matiu's karakia provided
spiritual foundation before the haerenga.

As one participant reflected, “There is
whakapapa in our waiata.” Standing on
ground referenced in songs, whanau
understood how each verse connects them
to land—stories of transformation, resilience,
and the ever-evolving relationship between
people and place. The overwhelming positive
response sparked calls for more such
wananga.

Every Thursday at 5:30pm throughout

the year, Kahui Kaumatua gathered at Te
Taiwhenua o Te Whanganui a Orotu. Under
guidance of Matua Matiu Eru and Beverly
Kemp-Harmer, these weekly wananga
became wellsprings of knowledge, advising
organizations, schools, councils, and
community groups on tikanga, kawa, and
cultural practices.

The ropu reviewed presentations, ensured
cultural protocols were upheld, and even
revived a traditional cleansing ritual at
year’'s beginning, diving ceremonially into

port waters. On August 1st, the community
gathered at Napier War Memorial for the
Kahui Kaumatua Ball, marking a full year
with korero, waiata, laughter, and aroha—
acknowledging the mana kaumatua bring
into every space.

On May 21st, Pukemokimoki Marae hosted
the Te Kupenga Hauora Rangatahi Expo.
Mana Ahuriri Trust supported the kaupapa,
with rangatahi exploring education, health,
and career opportunities through activities
like the forklift simulator. Interactive sessions
teaching Te Pepeha o Tamatea Pokaiwhenua
through waiata helped rangatahi connect
with heritage, while on-site MAT membership
and election registrations ensured
accessibility.

The expo built on Pukemokimoki Marae’s
role since 2007 as a place of learning

and celebration, having welcomed over
100 people. Rangatahi took charge within
workshops and throughout the day,
demonstrating the supportive environment
for young people stepping into leadership
roles.

When Tangoio Marae hosted Pa Wars 2025,
over 200 whanau members registered for a
day remembered for both competition and
connection. Six marae—Petane, Tangoio,
Moteo, Timikara, Wharerangi, and Waiohiki—
competed in ki-o-rahi, volleyball, basketball,
tamariki relays, and cornhole for kaumatua,
with Police and Te Kupenga Hauora
contributing to the safe, vibrant atmosphere.

The final tug-of-war crowned Waiohiki
Marae as champions, but the real victory
was whanau participating, competing,

and celebrating together under the hot
sun—laughter, sweat, and shared joy
strengthening hapd connections and cultural
pride.

The year marked transformational progress
in housing. At Owen Street, Pukemokimoki—
where the sweet-scented mokimoki fern
once grew—the Trust broke ground on its
inaugural housing development. On August
15th, the ohu kaikarakia Te Kaha Ma led early
morning karakia, clearing and blessing the
space. Similarly, at Wharerangi Road Te
Roropipi, twenty whanau gathered at 5:30am
for karakia led by Te Kaha, Mana, Morehu,
and Tipene.

Strategic partnerships with organizations
like HGpai, Ka Uruora, Koau Capital Partners,
and TW Group brought together investment
expertise, construction excellence, and
shared understanding of what Mdori
housing development needs to achieve.
Early contractor evenings brought strong
engagement, with over 180 Mdori businesses
registering through Pakihi Mdori. One young
builder captured the shift perfectly: “No one
has ever invited us in at this stage before.”

Work also progressed on McDonald St and 65
Munroe St feasibility studies, while significant
advancement occurred on Ahuriri Station—
the most significant Deferred Settlement
Property. Management worked closely with
Napier City Council on the Ahuriri Station
Future Development Strategy, with rezoning
of portions to residential (50 hectares) and
industrial (16 hectares) successfully endorsed
in October.

On June 23rd, the Trust Board conducted
site visits to development locations,

receiving comprehensive progress updates.
Community tours followed on August 16th for
registered members, reinforcing that these
developments represent shared aspirations
and future for Nga uri o Mana Ahuriri Trust.

On August 16th at Waiohiki Marae, over 30
whanau attended the launch of Ka Uruora
Te Matau a Maui—a pathway for financial
wellbeing developed alongside Tamatea
Pokai Whenua. The Ka Uruora ropa travelled
from Taranaki for this milestone marking
support for financial capability and long-
term prosperity.

Many whdnau shared they had never
believed home ownership was possible

until now. The programme, with first cohort
starting September 16th, offered access to
financial capability programmes, savings
pathways, and progressive home ownership
tools—turning settlement resources into
tangible opportunities for intergenerational
wealth-building.

As 2025 progressed, the pattern became
clear. Every karakia at a building site, every
rangatahi exploring career pathways, every
kaumatua sharing knowledge on Thursday
evenings, every whanau member touching
ancestral whenua, monitoring their estuary,
or planting native rakau—they were all
threads in the same weaving.

The principle that guided Ngati Parau after
the Battle of Taitimuroa centuries ago still
held true: Ehara taku toa i te toa takitahi,
engari he toa takitini—"My strength is not that
of one, but of many.”

NGA HIRAHIRATANGA 7
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TE PURONGO A TE TOIHAU

CHAIR'’S REPORT

Looking ahead, we have a full
year of opportunity in front of
us. We remain committed to
progressing the kaupapa that
matter most: restoring our
whenua and wai, strengthening
our cultural foundations,
creating pathways for mahi,
enabling whanau into homes,
and ensuring Mana Ahuriri
continues to grow responsibly,

strategically, and with aroha. 9y

TE PURONGO A TE TOIHAU

CHAIR REPORT
GENERAL HUI 2025

This year has been a powerful reminder of
what we can achieve when we move together
as Mana Ahuriri, with hapd, whanau, and
marae all contributing to a shared vision. Our
role as the Board of Trustees for Mana Ahuriri
is to help steer our waka; the real strength,
momentum, and direction come from all of
you.

We began 2025 with the successful
completion and launch of Te Muriwai o Te
Whanga, our taiao plan focuses on restoring
and enhancing Te Whanganui-a-Orota. Our
Komiti Muriwai and Taiao Komiti continued
to meet regularly, strengthening co-
governance with councils and progressing
restoration priorities. We also supported
wananga of our moteatea Te Karoro,
reaffirming our connection to place and
matauranga.

Housing has been a major kaupapa for
our people. This year saw the launch of Ka
Uruora Te Matau-a-Maui, the beginning of
our housing programme at Owen Street
and Wharerangi Road, strong engagement
from whanau through contractor evenings,
karakia, and site visits. These milestones

mark the start of long-term pathways to
home ownership, financial capability, and
intergenerational wellbeing.

Across the motu, we continued to participate
in national discussions through the Iwi
Chairs Forum, and Regional engagement
through Te Kahui Ohanga, and Matariki

Governance Group. Locally, we strengthened
regional collaboration with councils and
PSGEs, engaging on climate resilience, the
RMA reforms, city and regional deals, and
future regional structures. Our advocacy

for Mdori Wards and support for whanau
during elections helped ensure our voice was
represented in critical civic decisions.

These are big initiatives, and they reflect our
commitment to shaping a future that our
mokopuna can be proud of.

What we are most proud of this year is the
way our people have shown up, at wananga,
hearings, launches, hui, karakia, Pa Wars, and
community events. The pride and excitement
from our whanau, especially around the
housing kaupapa, has been uplifting and
shows that the direction we are taking is
resonating at the pd and around the kitchen
table.




PROFIT AND LOSS

MANA AHURIRI TRUST GROUP

ACCOUNTS $000

Accounts $000s
OPERATING PROFIT
Change in Fair Value Kaweka Gwavas
Mana Ahuriri Hapai

Change in Fair Value Investment Properties

NET PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income Tax Expense

Net Profit

on vision and mahi, but also on the financial
stewardship that underpins the Trust's long-
term resilience. Whanau can be confident
that the Trust continues to perform strongly
and is positioning us for intergenerational
success. The following financial overview
outlines our performance for the year.

As outlined above MAHLP made Net Profit of
$12.0m (before tax & prior to distributions)

— this equates to a 31.4% return on opening
equity. While MAT made an operating loss of
($0.497m) this is funded by distributions paid
from MAHLP to MAT ($0.550m).

We further note that the Mana Ahuriri Trust
Group (‘Group’) has since transitioned

Our progress this year has been built not only

Looking ahead, we have a full year of
opportunity in front of us. We remain
committed to progressing the kaupapa
that matter most: restoring our whenua and
wai, strengthening our cultural foundations,
creating pathways for mahi, enabling
whanau into homes, and ensuring Mana
Ahuriri continues to grow responsibly,
strategically, and with aroha.

To our whdnau, our marae, our kaumatua,
our rangatahi, koutou katoa, thank you. Thank
you for the trust, the korero, the challenges,
the support, and the belief in what we are
building together. It is a privilege to serve our
people.

MANA AHURIRI TRUST
OPERATIONS REPORT 2024-2025

INTRODUCTION

The 2024-2025 year has been one of
profound growth, consolidation and
momentum for Mana Ahuriri Trust. As an
organisation, we continued to strengthen our
internal capability while stepping confidently
into our role as a regional leader for our
people. Across each of the six pou of Te Ara
Whakamua, meaningful progress has been
made — culturally, socially, environmentally,
and economically.

This year was not just about completing
tasks; it was about deepening relationships,
restoring identity, reconnecting with our
whenuag, and setting the foundations for
intergenerational outcomes. Our operations

evolved significantly, our influence in regional

decision-making expanded, and our cultural
leadership became increasingly visible. Every
kaupapa we advanced this year comes back
to a single purpose: uplifting the wellbeing,
mana and aspirations of our people.

POU1— WHANAUNGATANGA

Strengthening Connections with Our People
Whanaungatanga sits at the heart of all our
mahi. Over the past year, Mana Ahuriri Trust
made deliberate efforts to ensure our people
felt connected, informed and included.
Communications strengthened considerably,
with 56 panui sent to registered members,

a 42% increase in website traffic, and a
notable lift across all social media platforms.
Through consistent, meaningful storytelling
— explaining not just what we were doing but
why — whdnau began engaging in deeper
and more meaningful ways.

TE PURONGO A TE MANAHAUTU

GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT

We began 2025 with the successful completion and launch of Te Muriwai o Te
Whanga, our taiao plan focuses on restoring and enhancing Te Whanganui-
a-Orotu. Our Komiti Muriwai and Taiao Komiti continued to meet regularly,
strengthening co-governance with councils and progressing restoration
priorities. We also supported wananga of our moteatea Te Karoro, reaffirming our
connection to place and matauranga.

to preparing financial statements in
accordance with Public Benefit Entity
Standards, although qualifies for Tier 3
reporting the group has elected to report
under this standard to enhance financial
reporting and to ensure comparability.
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This shift was most visible during the Pakihi
Maori registration rollout, where more than
180 Maori businesses registered, and dozens
of tradespeople became involved in early-
stage development discussions. Whanau
repeatedly told us that, for the first time, they
felt genuinely invited into the development
process. One young builder captured this
perfectly when he said, “No one has ever
invited us in at this stage before.”

POU 2 — KAITIAKITANGA

Protecting and Restoring Te Taiao

This year was a milestone period for Mana
Ahuriri’'s environmental leadership. Our
kaitiaki were present across the region —

in the awa, along the coast, at the reef, in
council boardrooms, and on the whenua.
Through more than 30 formal environmental,
planning and resilience hui, Mana Ahuriri
increasingly shaped conversations that once
overlooked or minimised our perspectives.

From Pania Reef to the penguin nursery,
from coastal inundation studies to major
flood protection planning, our kaitiaki
provided cultural insight that reshaped how
Crown agencies, councils and engineers
understand environmental wellbeing. One of
the defining moments of the year occurred
when kaumatua reframed a flood protection
discussion by focusing on tuna pathways
and the awa as an ancestor. That one korero
shifted the entire engineering approach,
grounding it in whakapapa rather than
technical efficiency.

The korord nursery continued to be one of
the region’s quiet success stories. Nearly
300 penguins were cared for this season,
supported by our kaitiaki and environmental
partners. The work has received national
attention and exemplifies a Mdori-led
ecological response grounded in care,
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respect and connection.

Perhaps the most significant environmental
achievement this year was the co-
governance work on the Ahuriri Regional
Park. Mana Ahuriri played an influential role
in shaping the masterplan, ensuring cultural
values and ecological restoration efforts sit
at its foundations.

POU 3 — RANGATIRATANGA

Leadership, Governance and Regional
Influence

Mana Ahuriri stepped firmly into its
leadership role this year, contributing to
regional and national discussions that

will shape the future of the Hawke's Bay

for decades. Our representation on key
groups — including the Matariki Governance
Group, Future Development Strategy Joint
Committee, Regional Recovery Agency, and
multiple climate resilience forums — ensured
our voice influenced critical decisions around
land use, housing, natural hazards and
infrastructure.

Internally, our governance capability
continued to strengthen. New systems

were embedded, including an Operations
Dashboard aligned to Te Ara Whakamua
and the adoption of Xero Projects to support
cost and efficiency tracking. The MAT
Election Programme was delivered to a high
standard, maintaining transparency and
trust in our governance systems.

POU 4 — ORANGA

Cultural, Social and Community Wellbeing
Cultural revitalisation remained a significant
focus this year, with several major events
strengthening identity and connection. The
Pakake 200-Year Commemoration was one
of the most emotional and unifying moments

for our hapu. Uri of all ages gathered to
remember, to learn, and to honour the stories
of their ancestors. For many, it was the first
time hearing the full history of Pakake told
openly.

Other events, including Whangai i te Hautapu,
the Hauora Symposium and a series of site
blessings and cultural inductions, brought
together over 900 participants. Cultural
practice is now embedded across all our
developments and regional partnerships.

POU 5 — WHAI RAWA

Housing, Economic Development and
Intergenerational Prosperity

This year marked major progress across
our housing and economic priorities. The
developments at Pukemokimoki and Te
Roropipi were advanced with strong cultural
narratives, Mdori design principles and
whdnau engagement. Ahuriri Station also
emerged as a major strategic priority —
representing both a return to ancestral
whenua and a generational opportunity
for housing, economic growth and cultural
revitalisation.

Ka Uruora Te Matau-a-Maui was launched
this year, offering whdnau access to financial
capability programmes, savings pathways
and progressive home ownership tools. Many

whanau shared that they had never believed
home ownership was possible until now.

POU 6 — KOTAHITANGA

Collaboration, Unity and Shared Regional
Outcomes

Kotahitanga was a defining theme of the
year. Mana Ahuriri worked closely with
regional partners to shape housing, climate
resilience, economic development and
governance priorities. Our involvement in
regional housing leadership ensured Mdori
perspectives were central to planning for 150
new CHP placements across Hawke's Bay.

Our Mdori Wards and Local Elections
campaign empowered whanau with clear,
accessible information about voting rights
and processes. Many expressed that, for
the first time, they felt fully included in local
decision-making.

CONCLUSION

The past year represents meaningful
progress, cultural reawakening, strengthened
leadership and growing regional influence
for Mana Ahuriri Trust. Across all six pou, our
mahi reflects a commitment to our people,
our whenua and our collective aspirations. He
waka eke noa — we move forward together.

Every kaupapa we advanced this
year comes back to a single

purpose: uplifting the wellbeing,
mana and aspirations of our people.




STRATEGIC PLANNING FRAMEWORK

Strategic Pou

Whai Rawa

- Growing our assets,
mokopuna and rohe

wealth and prosperity

Ahurea Tuakiri
Whanau are connected,
proud and culturally
strong

What Success Looks Like

A strong asset base that yields year on year

financial returns

An operational dividend for Mana Ahuriri

operations

Growing the financial literacy of our

members

Whanau know their pepeha and

whakapapa

Have more people involved of all ages in

Mana Ahuriri activities

That Marae hold full paepae and are

actively being used

That whanau know the Mdori names for

places and sites across Mana Ahuriri
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Priority

Priority 1

Priority 2

Priority 3

Priority 4

Priority 5

Priority 1

Priority 2

Priority 3

Priority 4

Priority 5

Objective

Monitoring of Commercial performance — through key strategy,
including our SIPO, agreed metrics and active profit generating

activities.

Grow opportunities across strategic Pou for members, through a
disciplined approach that manages returns, risk and opportunities
along with key priorities such as affordable housing for whanau and

holding the right conditions for whanau to thrive

Implementation of Progressive procurement policy and plans for Mana

Ahuriri, preferring our people and suppliers at appropriate levels.

Growing commercial capability, through increased governance training

and development

Collaboration - building a culture of collaboration, within our region and
nationally across our commercial (and other) activities to grow our

asset base and achieve commercial success.

Creation of the Kahui Kaumatua, with an action plan, strengthening our
connection with kaumatua to ensure access to our Mana Ahuriri

knowledge, history, tikanga and kawa is upheld and preserved.

Fostering of Marae connections and opportunities for Marae planning,
that supports the development of their strategy and journey, including:

facilities, buildings, sites, taiao, governance and operations.

Increase the number of Te Reo speaking whanau underpinned by

Ahuriritanga

Fill our pae with confident whanau members in Te Ao Mdori and

underpinned by Ahuriritanga

Growth of the Ahuriri Bi-lingual initiatives — through a work programme
that facilitates use of te reo Mdori place names, sites history and

knowledge.

Improve Rangatahi connection and participation with MAT to ensure

they are informed and have input.

Actions

Provide commercial direction that enhances environmental, social and cultural priorities of Mana
Ahuriri.

Detailed Quarterly and Monthly Updates from MAHLP

Implement regular formal and informal interaction and communications between MAHLP and MAT

boards
Establish a clear Communications strategy that updates members and keeps them informed

Implement a stock take of membership information

Partner with Ka Uruora kaupapa and develop a plan for its delivery in Ahuriri

Pakihi Maori and members are provided opportunities for input into development design and

delivery.
Develop a database of our people to be suppliers

Develop and implement a MAT Social Procurement Policy
Provide input into regional and national procurement with local and central government agencies

Develop a Mana Ahuriri Tribal economy strategy
Provide loD memberships for all Board members to ensure access to financial literacy and

management training and to build capability and capacity

Provide hapu members with opportunities to develop their commercial acumen, capability and
capacity

Develop in house commercial capability and capacity

Strengthen our Te Tiriti relationships to improve outcomes of Mana Ahuriri

Collaborate and partner with local PSGE, lwi, Mori Inc and the wider local business community on

commercial opportunities to grow our asset base and achieve commercial success

Sharing our stories

Develop and establish a Kaumatua Komiti

Develop a Terms of Reference that will govern the Kaumatua Komiti

Provide space and resourcing to kaumatua to adequately realise the Kaumatua Komiti outcomes

Collaborate with Te Taiwhenua o Whanganui a Orotu in the implementation of marae and hapu

development
Grow capability and capacity in hapu to meaningfully participate in RMA matters and wider hapu

matters

Develop a Mana Ahuriri Te Reo me o na Tikanga Plan — that aims to engage with whanau and

Marae to find ways to grow and develop te reo me nga tikanga Mdori.

Collaborate with Te Tiriti partners in developing our sites of significance and cultural foot print

within the wider community

Create content that tells our stories, promotes Ahuriritanga and informs the wider community of

our culture

Develop and establish a Roopu Rangatahi, with their own strategy and action plan to improve

connections and ensure rangatahi inform and design initiatives relevant to them.
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What Success Looks Like

Strategic Pou

Priority Objective

Actions

Affordable housing for members —

ownership and rental access

Creation of a Social Wellbeing — Whanau
Ora indicators that measure improvements

for whanau

Growing strategic relationships with

Whanau Ora

providers and agencies to support Mana

- Our people thrive - their Ahuriri aspirations
ora is achieved in ways

they desire Mana Motuhake — whanau led solutions

We hold a Te Taiao plan

We hold both technical and cultural

knowledge to support Te Taiao

Measurable improvement in our whenua

and wai

Te Taiao

- Active kaitiaki of our
natural environment Sites of significance are protected

so that it supports our

wellbeing [ ora

Mana Ahuriri stories are recorded

Strong Governance that operates

compliantly and effectively

Increasing membership

Strong performance reporting

Rangatiratanga

- Leadership & Strong local, regional and national

excellence across leadership on matters of importance for

all we do Mana Ahuriri
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: Growing our Member profile, that sets out socio-economic status; and
Priority
wellbeing opportunities

) Holding contractual relationships that enable the achievement of strong
Priority
whanau outcomes

3 Supporting regional planning and implementation of new health
Priority
options, Whanau and Community Wellbeing and Recovery

Housing strategy and programme of work to support access to
Priority 4 affordable housing for members - this includes pathways for home

ownership, and improved solutions for first home owners

Ensure the wellbeing of Te Taiao

- Working in partnership to restore Te Whanga

- Provide advice for the Policy, Planning and Regional Planning

Priority 1 Committee

- Repository to Matauranga Mdori cultural practices, traditional stories

and knowledge

- Local and regional planning and resilience development

Secure & Protect Environmental Rights and Interests

- Development of Te Mana Ahuriri Te Taiao Plan

- Fit for purpose regional plans (Future Development Spatial, Long Term
Priority 2 and others
- Three Waters work programme that upholds water and infrastructure

nees for our people and place

- RMA reform that protect our rights and interest

Embedding a Governance Framework — this will help the training and
Priority 1 development of our people, both those within our group and those who
are interesting in becoming governors
Investment into Mana Ahuriri operating model, to ensure strong

Priority 2
capability across people, processes, practices and partnerships

Embedding core internal functions, into the business operations of Mana
Priority 3 Ahuriri, that uphold rights and interests, communications and

engagement, governance and leadership.

Develop a Pakihi Mdori database of Mana Ahuriri members, and associated whanau Pakihi

Develop a communication strategy that brings whanau, partners and stakeholders on the journey
and keeps them well informed

Develop a whanau ora framework in delivering outcomes for Ahuriri Hapu

Establish strategic relationships with Health and Social service providers

Actively participate in and promote opportunities for MAT aspirations in regional groups such as

Matariki
Collaborate with lwi and PSGE under Te Kahui Ohanga o Takitimu and National Iwi Chairs Forum

Partner with Ka Uruora kaupapa and develop a plan for its delivery in Ahuriri
Establish social housing relationships and partnerships with MHUD, Kainga Ora, Local Councils and
other interested parties. Partnerships through the establishment of an MoU and actions through

contractual agreements

Develop and implement Te Muriwai o Te Whanga Plan

Participate and provide guidance in Ahuriri Regional Park development
Monitor the health of our Te Taiao and advocate through multiple levels to improve Te Taiao

Actively participate in HB RPC as per Deed of Settlement
Gain resourcing to provide for statutory obligations under settlement rights

Establish a database of matauranga and holders of matauranga
Establish and deliver a plan that shares our stories, promotes Ahuriritanga and informs the wider

community of our culture
Ensure our sites of significance/wahi tapu/wahi taonga are protected from future neglect and

abuse

Participate in regional groups to ensure Te Taiao and our Cultural needs are addressed.
Develop a team that upholds the integrity of our settlement, specifically on RMA matters

Develop and deliver on our Te Mana Ahuriri Te Taiao Plan - Environmental Management Plan and

share with those partners and stakeholders who share the same values and vision for Te Taiao

Input into the planning and decision making processes for regional planning

Advance and implement Mana Ahuriri aspirations in local plans

Resource and engage to advise on storm, waste and fresh water matters

Ensure the appropriate advice is deployed to uphold the principles of Te Mana o Te Wai

Training for Board and GM in governance matters

Provide opportunities for Hapu members to grow skills and knowledge in governance
Increase registered membership of Mana Ahuriri to over 10,000

Undertake an organisational review of governance and operations

Grow an operational team that can deliver on strategic outcomes of Mana Ahuriri

Develop and deliver a plan to build capability and capacity at hapu level in RMA
Ensure whanau are regularly updated and where appropriate involved in Mana Ahuriri operations

Utilise the technical experts and Pou of NICF to provide support and direction
Develop capability and capacity within operations and governance to uphold Te Tiriti rights and
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MAHLP Chair Report

E aku iti, e aku rahi, tenad koutou katoa

INTRODUCTION

The 2025 financial year is MAHLP’s third year of operation and there has been significant
progress made on a number of matters as we continue to lay strong foundations for
future success:

- Strong financial performance for the period with operating profit $1.138m and group
net profit (before tax) $12.0m — resulting in a total return on opening equity of 31.4%

- Focus remains on stable growth of the balance sheet to ensure adequate Patea for
future generations — following the payment of distributions to MAT ($0.550m) MAHLP's
net equity for the period increased ~$11m.

- The Accelerated Housing Programme (AHP) remains on track, with a pipeline of over
400 homes anticipated for delivery. Since balance date, significant progress has been
made, with the first two projects - Pukemokimoki and Te Roropipi - now underway and
early works commenced.

TE PURONGO A
TE TOIHAU MAHLP

MAHLP CHAIR’S REPORT

- The acquisition programme has progressed well, with significant advancements
on key properties, including Severn Precinct, Napier Airport, Mataruahou and Ahuriri
Station.

- MAHLP has also achieved its objectives of adding long-term value to the properties
through constructive engagement with Napier City Council on the local Future
“ Development Strategy (FDS) and the Proposed District Plan (PDP).
We strive to deliver sustainable

distributions to Mana Ahuriri Trust - Ongoing management of existing properties continues, with Pakake currently
so that it can deliver for both operating as a carpark in the short term, and Waghorne serving as the office and

. administration base for MAT.
current and future generations.
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OUR INVESTMENT STRATEGY

- We see our purpose to provide the financial
resources for Mana Ahuriri, led by MAT, to

thrive and exist vibrantly in 1,000 years. To do
this we have to invest wisely and sustainably.

- In short, we strive to deliver sustainable
distributions to MAT so that it can deliver for
both current and future generations. To do
this we need to build a balanced investment
portfolio that grows, is resilient and provides
reliable distributions, even during downturns.

-Mana Ahuriri has received settlement

with a comparatively small starting asset
base (and mainly cash) but with a very
material Deferred Settlement Property (DSP)
preferential opportunity pipeline

Given this context MAT and MAHLP have
agreed a very focused investment strategy:

- MAHLP will continue to leverage its natural
advantages, or endowments, and be
focused on the execution of the DSP pipeline.
We believe this approach will deliver the
best returns and grow in the most efficient
manner possible to ensure putea grows at a
sustainable level.

- MAHLP will ensure the necessary
diversification, to enable sufficiently stable
cashflows to meet distribution obligations,
while still having a predominant property
focus in the near term. This can be achieved
with an appropriate split between investment
property (reliable yield), development
property (irregular cashflow) and other DSP
opportunities.

- MAHLP will need to utilise a range of
innovative tactics and partners to execute
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all the opportunities. However, we will always
ensure that Mana Ahuriri receives the value
that is created through its preferential
settlement rights and other natural
advantages (endowments).

- Where commercially feasible, MAHLP will
deliver wider outcomes important to Mana
Ahuriri including building a portfolio of
commercial land where value can be added
inter-generationally and deliver residential
development solutions that can also deliver
affordable housing by MAT to whanau.

MAHLP will need to be innovative yet
disciplined in order to maximise the value
from all of its DSP opportunities in delivering
this investment strategy. This unique, skilled
approach targets the delivery of 10% plus
return on equity over the next five years plus
retaining control of over 6,500 hectares in its
takiwa long-term plus a housing programme
of 400 homes across a mixed tenure of
community rental, affordable rental (rent

to own), shared equity and market, with
preferential access for Mana Ahuriri uri.

FINANCIAL UPDATE

The operating profit for the year of $1.1m was
primarily driven by:

- Interest earned on term deposits for the
period was $0.9m as approx. 40% of the
portfolio

remains held in cash. During FY25 97% of
cash was held on term deposits, with a small
portion remaining on call to cover operating
expenses. The average rate earned on these
funds was 3.7%.

- Cash distribution $0.545m from Kaweka

BALANCE SHEET

ACCOUNTS $000 30 Jun 2025 30 Jun 2024
Assets

Cash & TDs

Other Current Assets

Property Development WIP

Investment Property

Aquisition & Feasibility

Forestry

Total Asets

Total Liabilities

Net Assets

Gwavas

- Operating expenses remain efficient,
slightly above those accrued in FY24 and
totalled $0.328m - including governance,
management, property costs (i.e. insurance
and rates), accounting, audit and other
general costs.

Total Profit for the year of $12m, resulting in a
return on equity of 31.4% - with key drivers as
follows:

- Kaweka Gwavas completed its first land
market valuation since settlement, resulting
in a material increase with the total value of
the two forestry blocks rising from $14m to
$44m, representing a $30m uplift. MAHLP's
share of this was close to $11m.

- Investment properties were revalued which
resulted in a slight decrease ($0.135m).

MAHLP retains almost $20m of cash which
will start to be allocated to its DSP acquisition
programme of

~$100m of property, with key acquisitions
expected in the coming year. The Net Assets
is expected to increase significantly over the
next 24 months, but it will move from cash

PROFIT AND LOSS

ACCOUNTS $000

Total Operating Income
Total Expenses

Operating Profit

Total Other Gains & Losses

MAHLP Comprehensive Income

Distributions

Contributions to Pertners Capital

to commercial investment property and
residential development.

OUR EXISTING ASSETS

MAHLP holds a 33.34% stake in Kaweka
Gwavas Forestry Trust (KGFT), which
comprises land leased to Pan Pac, a forestry
company, and NZUs. The primary role of KGFT
is to maximise the rentals from the lease
arrangements and to distribute the free
cashflow to its shareholders. A rent review
with Pan Pac is currently underway and is
expected to result in a material uplift in the
current rental, with finalisation anticipated
in November (but backdated to July).
Additionally, KGFC holds NZUs on behalf of
MAHLP,

which are scheduled to be sold FY26, with
the capital generated supporting the
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advancement of the DSP property pipeline.

As part of the settlement, MAT received three
cultural redress properties and one early
release property. Following a review with
MAT, Conservation House was sold in FY24.
Waghorne Street was acquired as an Early
Release Property to serve as the office and
administration base for Mana Ahuriri Trust
(MAT). The property is currently subleased

to Ngati PGhauwera Development Trust.
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MAT has advised that there is no cultural or
historical attachment restricting the sale of
the property if it is commercially beneficial.

Given its limited capital, MAHLP considers
that selling the property and reallocating
the capital to higher-return commercial
opportunities within its DSP pipeline- such
as the Severn and Munroe Precinct —will
generate better long-term value. Following
notification to whanau and discussions
with an interested Iwi the property has now
been placed on the open market MAT have
expressed interest in developing Pakake into
an office [ home with a hub concept as a
long-term goal, and very initial conceptual
works have been initiated. In the meantime,
the site is currently being utilized as a
temporary cark park.

NEW INVESTMENT ACTIVITY

The Treaty Settlement included the right

to purchase up to 18 properties. MAHLP

have been clinically working through these
opportunities to complete due diligence

and negotiate an appropriate value for
acquisition. Significant progress has been
made during 2025 with two properties
acquired and the acquisition values of many
others close to being finalised.

COMMERCIAL PROGRAMME

MAHLP have been working through the
acquisition of Munroe Precinct for some time
now and are currently in final negotiations
with the Crown regarding the determination
of an acceptable acquisition value. This
process has dragged on much longer than
anticipated but it is critical that a fair value
for Mana Ahuriri is achieved and MAHLP

will not compromise on this. MAHLP has

the funds ready to acquire this property
and is optimistic it will be acquired during
FY26. This property is set to act as a centre
piece of the portfolio delivering stable and
reliable returns which will help fund ongoing
distributions for MAT.

Significant due diligence and master
planning works have also been progressed
on Severn Precinct through the year. MAHLP
has shared valuations with the Crown and
we are currently progressing discussions to

agree a transfer value. As we have previously
communicated this is a large 44-hectare
site and we simply cannot afford to acquire
and/or develop the land on our own. Hence
the strategy is to enter a partnership
whereby MAHLPs leases 51 and 58 Severn St
(just over 50% of the total land) long-term to
a development partner who will develop the
buildings (a large-scale bulk retail centre).

Our intention is to then hold the rest of the
land on shorter-term leases and develop it
over the medium to longer term as funding
allows. This strategy will optimize economic
value for Mana Ahuriri while also retaining
inter-generation control over the entire site.
We have gone out to the market for potential
partners who are considered to have the
scale and expertise necessary to undertake
such a significant development and we

are progressing discussions to finalise our
development partner for Severn Precinct.

ACCELERATED HOUSING PROGRAMME

Strong progress has been made on the
targeted ~400 house Accelerated Housing
Programme with a joint venture with

Hapai Housing formed during the year
named Mana Ahuriri Hapai LP. The first two
properties (Pukemokimoki and Te Roropipi)
have recently been acquired and early works
have now commenced.

The delivery of the housing programme

will be supported by Ka Uruora, with MAT
establishing a regional entity alongside
Tamatea Pokai Whenua which will leverage
off existing Ka Uruora back-office capacity.
Via Ka Uruora, and underpinned by the

JV with Hapai, Crown funding support

has been finalised to enable the delivery

of 112 affordable whanau homes across
Pukemokimoki and Te Roropipi, being
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a mix of homes across a mixed tenure
of community rental, kaumatua rental,
affordable rental (rent to own) and shared
equity (with also preferred access to market
sales).

MAHLP is also focused on ensuring that
Mana Ahuriri identity and cultural narrative
is strongly reflected within the built form

of its developments. Further MAHLP is
committed to progressive procurement and
encouraging the utilization of Mana Ahuriri
and Maori businesses and people in its
developments, where ever it is commercially
feasible.

Work is also progressing on the feasibility of
housing developments on McDonald St and
65 Munroe St.

OTHER

Although the current focus lies on
progressing the Accelerated Housing
Programme and the acquisition of
commercial properties mentioned above,
there has been significant progress on
acquiring the Crown’s 50% shareholding in
Hawke's Bay Airport. Significant progress
has also been made towards acquiring
Ahuriri Station and Mataruahou.
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Following agreement on the Airport
acquisition price, due diligence has been
completed and a capital raise with other
aligned Iwi and Mdori entities is progressing
positively. MAHLP has committed to
progressing the acquisition and investing
and has approximately two thirds of the

required capital confirmed.

MAHLP remains focussed on securing all of
the rights and interests provided for in the
Settlement. These were so hard fought for
and we carry the responsibility for those
rights and interests very strongly. Ahuriri
Station is the most significant Deferred
Settlement Property in the Settlement,
and we fully recognise the substance

and meaning of Te Whanga o Orotu to
Mana Ahuriri and more widely to Ngati
Kahungunu.

We remain fully committed to leading and
providing direction for the preservation
and enhancement of Te Whanga, with

the active involvement of our whanau.

To maximise outcomes, it is necessary to
undertake a development of part of Ahuriri
Station to fund the purchase and provide
putea for Mana Ahuriri to grow and fulfil its
responsibilities.

1
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JOINT VENTURE LP

To support this, management has been
working closely with Napier City Council
on the Ahuriri Station Future Development
Strategy (FDS), which has now been
confirmed in line with previous

communications. Additionally,
management has sought rezoning of
portions of Ahuriri Station to residential (50
hectares) and industrial (16 hectares), with
these recommendations successfully

endorsed by Napier City Council in October.
The work in agreeing a transfer value is
ongoing with a range of complex issues
associated with the property remaining to
be resolved prior to the final purchase price
being agreed.

MANAGEMENT RESOURCING

From inception we have retained Koau
Capital Partners as our commercial
manager who specialise in providing
contract management services to

iwi commercial entities. Koau bring
unparalleled expertise and an extensive
track record across the full range of
post-Settlement demands. Koau works

collaboratively with the MAT management
team, led by Parris Greening, and combined
provide the capacity to deliver our strategy.
We are very grateful for the contribution
that has and is being made by Koau and
our management team.

Thanks

Finally, | would like to thank my fellow
directors for their contribution and guidance
throughout the year

and | also acknowledge the Trustees and
management team at Mana Ahuriri Trust for
their strong support for our mahi.

| look forward to connecting with you
throughout the coming year and reporting
on our meaningful contribution toward the
Kaupapa we are committed to.
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TE ROPU KAITIAKI TAIAO

TE TAIAO UPDATE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

It has been a year of significant growth,
renewed partnerships, and bold steps
forward for the Mana Ahuriri Taiao Roopu.
Guided by the aspirations of our hapt and
whanau, we have worked to uphold and
advance kaitiakitanga across our takiwa
during a period of rapid environmental
change and increasing development
pressures.

Despite the challenges being faced

by Mana Whenua at a national level,
due to ongoing policy reform, our local
relationships remain strong, and our
collective efforts continue to deliver
meaningful outcomes for Taiao.

NGA MAHI WHAKAHIRAHIRA O TE TAU | KEY
ACHIEVEMENTS OF THE YEAR

Launch of the Te Muriwai o te Whanga Plan
A major milestone was the launch of the Te
Muriwai o te Whanga plan - our strategic
framework for the long-term health and
restoration of our moana, repo, and wider
coastal systems. This plan sets a clear vision
anchored in matauranga, cultural values,
and collaborative action with our partners
and community. It has already become a
guiding document for consent processes,
restoration planning, and stakeholder
engagement.
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STRENGTHENING RELATIONSHIPS WITH
TREATY PARTNERS & KEY STAKEHOLDERS

We have placed considerable emphasis

on nurturing relationships with our treaty
partners, local authorities, Crown agencies,
industry, and community groups. These
relationships are essential to ensuring our
values are embedded early in decision-
making. This year we saw improved co-
design processes, increased willingness to
collaborate, and stronger recognition of our
role as kaitiaki within our rohe.

Securing the Marine Cultural Health
Monitoring Contract with Napier Port

A significant achievement was securing the
marine cultural health monitoring contract
with Napier Port. This partnership enables
us to apply matauranga and cultural health
indicators alongside scientific monitoring
to better protect the oranga of Te Muriwai o
Te Whanga and the takutai moana. It also
demonstrates trust in Mana Whenua-led
environmental monitoring and provides

a model for other maijor infrastructure
partners.

GROWING OUR TEAM
We were proud to welcome Heeni, our

new Kaitatari Taiao Wai. Her expertise
in Matauranga Madori, understanding
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freshwater systems, cultural health, and
hapt engagement strengthens our capacity
to understand and respond to pressures on
our waterways and enhances the depth of
knowledge within our team. We have also

been proud to support Tiana in her journey of

study to gain her Master’'s degree at Otago
and have been lucky to have her part time
support with consents throughout the year,
looking forward to her returning in a full time
capacity.

Advocating for Stronger Consent Conditions

Across multiple consent processes, our team
has worked to secure robust conditions that

provide better environmental outcomes and
create space for whanau involvement. This

includes requirements for cultural monitoring,

improved mitigation measures, and stronger
oversight of construction and operational
phases. Each consent opportunity has been
used to push for Taiao enhancement, not
merely impact minimisation.

SUPPORTING HAPU REPRESENTATIVES IN PRE-
CONSENT & CONSTRUCTION MONITORING

We have continued to support hapu
representatives in involvement in pre-
consent application discussions and
processes, ensuring our values are
considered from the earliest stages of
project design. Following the granting of
consents, our cultural monitors have played
an essential role in ensuring that conditions
are upheld, tikanga practices are followed,
and construction activities respect sites of
significance and environmental values.

ESTABLISHING A HEALING FOREST BESIDE TE
UMUROIMATA PA

A memorable achievement this year was
supporting the aspirations of our Ngati

Parau and Ngati Hinepare Kaumatua in re-
connecting our whdnau to Te Umuroimata
Pa@, through establishing the largest Miyawaki
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forest in the country adjacent to the Pa. This
project has established over 40 species of
our taonga plants, with contributions from
the wider community, and brings together
ecological restoration, climate resilience,
and cultural revitalisation—returning native
species to whenua of significance and
demonstrating the power of community-
driven restoration. This forest will grow rapidly
and stand as a living legacy for generations
and is already acting as a healing forest with
whanau visiting Te Umuroimata regularly
and re-connecting to this beautiful site.

NGA WERO KEI MUA | LOOKING AHEAD
A SERIOUS WATER CRISIS EMERGING

As we approach what is expected to be an
extremely dry summer, our region is facing
the likelihood of a serious water crisis.
Post-cyclone reconstruction is reaching its
peak, and with thousands of new homes
forecast for development, demand for
water - particularly for dust suppression - is
set to surge this summer. Te Roopu Taiao

is concerned about proposals for renewed
water allocation to perpetuate the problems
of an over-allocated aquifer. We are
preparing to take a strong position against
any further allocation that fails to address
water security and prioritises individual profit
over the wellbeing of our wai. The protection
of our wai is a non-negotiable responsibility
to future generations.

MANAGING DEER AND WILD ANIMAL IMPACTS
Deer are causing growing ecological
damage across our takiwa, particularly

within the Kaweka ranges. We are working
alongside our whanaunga across the
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Kaweka and Kaimanawa to develop a
Mana Whenua-led approach to wild animal
management, ensuring cultural values

and Te Ao Mdori principles guide the long-
term strategy for restoring the mauri of our
Ngahere.

POLITICAL PRESSURES AND LEGISLATIVE
CHANGE

This year the Taiao Unit has operated
under significant pressure from the current
government’'s ongoing law reforms, many
of which actively reduce or limit Mana
Whenua involvement in environmental
decision-making. Despite these external
pressures, we remain steadfast in our role
and responsibilities. Importantly, local
partnerships with councils, agencies,
community groups, and industry remain
strong, and we continue to build on these
foundations to achieve positive outcomes for
Taico.

It has been a privilege to support the
aspirations of our hapu in the diverse mahi
of Taiao and we look forward to the ongoing
building of involvement and capabilities
within our wider whanau as we collectively
work to advocate and improve our Taiao

for ngd mokopuna. We look forward to the
coming year and encourage everyone to get
out, immerse yourselves in Taiao and be a
part of restoring the Mauri. Being there is our
first step to restoration success, we all have
a part to play in Taiao. Nau te rourou, Naku te
rourou ka ora ai tatou.

Mauri ora

Members By Marae Affiliations
As at17/11/2025 9:10:32 a.m.

Hamuera "

Petane  J

OUR MEMBERS
NGA MEMA

Tangoio  J’

Timikara | *J

Waiohiki  *J

N

Wharerangi *J

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1,000
Number Of Members

Members By Hapu Affiliations
As at 17/11/2025 9:10:02 a.m.

Marangatuhetaua —
Ngai Tawhao -
Ngai Te Ruruku —
Ngati Hinepare —

Ngati Mahu

Number Of Members

Members by Age
Grouped into age brackets

250

200

Number of Members

100+ Unknown




MANA AHURIRI TAIAO STRATEGY

Vision: Ko te hauora o Te Whanganui-a-Oroti e tautoko ana i te oranga me te ahurea o te iwi.
The health of Te Whanganui-a-Orota (Ahuriri Estuary) supports health, well-being and culture of the people.

Whakatauki: Ko rua te paia ko Te Whanga. He kainga to te ata. He kainga ka awatea. He kainga ka ahiahi.
The whanga is the storehouse that never closes. A meal in the morning. A meal at noon. A meal in the evening.

Ngé Matdapono (Values): Whanaungatanga (Relationships), Kaitiakitanga (Guardianship), Pono (Integrity), Whakapakari (Enhancement), Kotahitanga (unity).

= CAPACITY &
BIODIVERSITY WAAHITAPU MATAURANGA CAPABILITY

Water quality is restored,

Waterways are managed in sedimentgtlondatnd agal I?Iooms Waahi Tapu are protected and Monat_Ah?Jriri q;e gblte t‘o
are reduced to supportan . . . Whanau and hapi are roactively participate in
their entirety to restore water ~ abundant and d|versgﬁapqto kai  Preserving and restoring native restored. e o y ||O .
Yy _ N .. reconnected to their environmental management,
quality and quantity, that whono%ﬁ:\?ensésustolnobly habitats to support flourishing matauranga through including decision making
: ecosystems that supports . :
OBJECTIVES tr diteicgsyllsterp rr;earlth ?ndti . regi”ent biodiverfif;,. History of sites is respected and environmental
aaitional customary practices. #\V&ﬂlgg@ggc&ggnsrg%#otrP‘segg% promoted within the management. Whanau, hapt and marae are
through kqitiqkitqngga and community. supported in their role as
mahinga kai: kaitiaki and are able to lead
kaupapa taiao within their
takiwa.
Land and freshwater management A ‘ki utq, ki tai’ management . . .. _ .. L . .
practices align to recognisge and approach is adopted by%ll decision Taonga species are abundant to NQa uri o Ahuriri Hapt know  Decision making is informed by Access to information to make
provide fgr the hfeclth and well makers to reduce impacts on support sus';\omoble customary the locations and history of waahi matauranga Maori. informed decisions.
eing of wai. receiving environments. arvest. tapu within their takiwa.
o - _ Environmental observations are Engagement is meaningful,
The role of Ahuriri Hapa as Kaitiaki Hapd are able to assert mana Customary practices such as Increased awareness, education recorded and matauranga is e?flment and productive.
is recognised and are actively moana : : . continuously growing to adapt to
INDICATORS participating in freshwater : mahinga kai reconnect and and knowledge transfer of sites of envirorYrT?entql ghon o p .
management. Whanau are aware of the state of restore matauranga-a-hapd. significance within hapd and ge. deE\?e gggg‘g{/‘t el rl*n?f}iri
i i community (Where appropriate). . :
Freshwater management enables their kapata kai M toft g v ( pprop ) Environmental management given effect to by external
the reconnection and application Kaimoana is safe to eat eliieigisnisliielflloioiniefo i pisiells . _enables knowledge transfer stakeholders.
of matauranga Mdori. : tronesrf‘grbclj?srr%tt%rgr?%ggtlgnr?épG Correct nc;mes ‘(?.re used for sites  within whanau, hapti and marae.
5 i e : or signiticance. Nga uri o Ahuriri Hapt working in
- _ Whanau are informed on state o gat p 9
Ahu"'”c'ag oun%?yapbrlggt?c%grry out moana (biotoxins, discharges etcS. environmental management.
State of the environment . " Map sites of significance with ) Establish Taiao Unit.
stocktake Marine cultural health Taonga species stock take and correct names, history and Identify matauranga HapU representatives
el rﬁonitoring. programme. monitoring. matauranga associated with practitioners in rohe. |anludgd Oq.“’éqnd Ahuriri :
Reduction of point source Characterise state of the Pest control. sites. Cultural values Collate existing sources and p?ilggplce)g\klésgg%geemen
PRIORITY discharaes env|ronment HGbIth reStOFCItlon assessments for subdivision repositories of matourqngq. consentin process
Ri qriqng lanting of native Inventory of coastal Restoring ecological . (Sl Identify and secure access to confirmed with hapa and
parian p 9 ST, B e e connectivity. Actively monitor Mana Ahuriri discovery protocol. sites used for customary marae. Establish _
ACTIONS species. o biosecurity risks across Cultural monitoring for earth X relationships with potential
Wetland restoration. cglturol mom’gqrmg of ngahere \}\l,ai and moq’no works sites. practices. _ research partnersin public
Determining environmental discharges. Diving and Mat aq inf q Waahi tapu sites fenced off with Quarterly matauranga and private sector. Explore
: ; boating courses. atauranga informed native plantin wananga e.g. maramataka, potential for secondments,
flows that align with cultural restoration and monitorin b 9 it i i i toi research partnerships and
values and aspirations. roaimes 9 Promotion of sites of significance mahinga kai, mahi toi, rongoa programmes, intern
Flood protection schemes. 9 ’ BEHNID 2 SETATRLAIST Q5] Gl G, programmes, and
information signage. scholarships.

Deed of Settlement: Te Komiti Muriwai o te Whanga, Regional Planning Committee, Statutory Acknowledgements, Te Kawa o Papa, Relationship Agreements

ENABLERS Other Available Mechanisms: Mana Ahuriri Environmental Management Plan, Mana Whakahono a Rohe, Cultural Impact Assessments, Transfer of Powers (s33RMA)

30 MANA AHURIRI TAIAO STRATEGY 31



MANA AHURIRI TAIAO STRATEGY

Vision: Ko te hauora o Te Whanganui-a-Oroti e tautoko ana i te oranga me te ahurea o te iwi.
The health of Te Whanganui-a-Orota (Ahuriri Estuary) supports health, well-being and culture of the people.

KAUPAPA

WAI

MOANA

BIODIVERSITY

WAAHITAPU

MATAURANGA

CAPACITY &
CAPABILITY

State of the environment stock take.
Establish monitoring sites, and establish baseline
and target states for cultural and ecological
indicators.

Catchment Values Assessments

Identify needs and process to initiate Mana
Whakahono a Rohe

Baseline state of the environment.

Desktop review of existing coastal discharge resource
consents.

Taiao Management Plan (Moana)

Inventory of restoration and biosecurity projects in
rohe and initiate strategic partnerships.

Taonga species stock take and monitoring regime.

Conservation Management Strategy.

Identify knowledge holders and existing information
repositories in rohe.

Map sites of significance with correct names, history
and matauranga associated with sites.

Mana Ahuriri Discovery Protocol.

Collate existing sources and repositories of
matauranga.

Quarterly matauranga wananga

Identify key tohu (environmental indicators) to
monitor taiao aspirations.

Establish Taiao Unit.

Resource consenting process confirmed with hapd
networks in place to receive and process consent
applications.

Hapu representatives on Mana Ahuriri Komiti Taiao.

COSTS &
RESPONSIBILITY

MAT, Te Komiti, HBRC

HBRC, MAT

MAT, HBRC, NCC, HDC

HBRC, research institutes

MAT

MAT, HBRC, NCC, HDC

MAT

MAT, HBRC, DOC, NGOs

MAT

MAT

MAT

PHASE TWO

Identify and negotiate sites for restoration, access for

mahinga kai and other customary practices.

Taico Management Plan (Freshwater)

Engagement and submissions on Regional Freshwater

Plan & Ahuriri Catchment Plan

Develop cultural monitoring regime for coastal
discharges.

Engagement and Submissions on Regional Coastal
Environment Plan
Taiao Management Plan (Biodiversity)

Mana Ahuriri led and supported restoration projects

Biodiversity Connectivity Plan:

Identify priority areas for biodiversity conservation and

connectivity enhancement and design ecological

corridors to connect fragmented habitats and facilitate

species movement.

Cultural values assessment for subdivision consents.

Cultural Impact Assessment template and workshops

Cultural monitoring regime for earth works consents.

Matauranga dissemination resources for hapu.

Data repository system to capture maturanga
observations through cultural monitoring and
wananga.

Information sharing protocol.

Identify workstreams for collaboration across other iwi

and hapt organisations.

Cultural Impact Assessment templates and workshops.

Explore potential research partnerships, secondments,

intern programmes and scholarships.

MAT, NCC, HDC, Developers

COSTS &

RESPONSIBILITY PHASE THREE

MAT Mana Whakahono a Rohe

LERES LA Ongoing cultural and environmental monitoring and

restoration efforts.

Ongoing monitoring and audits of relationships,

HBRC, MAT, Te Komiti
agreements and implementation of plans.

Hapd training programmes e.g. environmental

MAT, HBRC, Te Komiti
monitoring, diving, boating etc.

MAT, Tertiary Education
Providers, Research

Partners MAT led marine cultural health programme.

MAT Traditional customary harvests.

MAT
Ongoing biodiversity audits, restoration projects, pest
monitoring, education and outreach led and supported

MAT, HBRC, DOC, NGOs, by Mana Ahuriri.

Developers

Waahi Tapu fenced of and revegetated with natives.

MAT Promotion of sites of significance within the
community.

Mana Whakahono a Rohe to include the protection of

MAT, NCC, HDC, Developers - e
sites of significance.

Environmental management aligned with key tohu
identified by Mana Ahuriri.

MAT

Mana Ahuriri led or supported matauranga Maori
research programmes.

Workstream collaboration with other iwi and hapt
organisations where appropriate.

MAT
Research partnerships and programmes,
secondments, intern programmes and scholarships in
place.

COSTS &
RESPONSIBILITY

MAT, HBRC, NCC, HDC

MAT, HBRC, NCC, HDC

MAT, HBRC, NCC, HDC

MAT, HBRC, Consent
Holders, Research
Institutes, Education
Providers

MAT

MAT, DOC, NGOs,
Developers, Consent
Holders,

MAT, Te Komiti, NCC, HDC,
HBRC, Consent Holders,
Developers

MAT, NCC, HDC, HBRC

MAT, Te Komiti, HBRC,

NCC, HDC, DOC

MAT

MAT

Abbreviations: MAT - Mana Ahuriri Trust, Te Komiti - Te Komiti Muriwai o te Whanga, HBRC - Hawke'’s Bay Regional Council, NCC - Napier City Council, HDC - Hastings District Council, DOC - Department of Conservation, NGOs - Non Government Organisations

32 MANA AHURIRI TAIAO STRATEGY

33



STRATEGIC RELATIONSHIPS

Ahuriri Hapi and Marae

* Facilitate effective and productive working relationships with
hapu, marae and external stakeholders.
* Advocate for hapt and marae rights and interests as kaitiaki.

r H H ° ® mm —
Hawkes's qu Reglonal Council « Support hapl and marae to lead their own kaupapa taiao. Te Taiwhenua o te WhanganUI a Orotu
* Regional planning and development regarding management of * Work with Taiwhenua to build capacity and capability of
natural resources, climate change and natural hazards. whanau, hapd and marae to progress their taiao
« Give effect to engagement principles and process determined by aspirations.
Mana Ahuriri. . » Support and advocate for workforce development for nga
. Lo'ke 'Tﬁ account planning documents prepared or endorsed by uri o Ahuriri Hapa to carry out kaupapa taiao within their
ana Ahuriri. W3
« Confirm actions to give effect to Te Komiti Muriwai o te Whanga takiwa.
Master Plan.

« Engagement and collaboration on regulatory and non-
regulatory mechanisms administered by regional council
(including decision making) e.g. development of regional plans,
Regional Planning Committee, environmental monitoring.

Kaitiakitanga

Department of Conservation

FR’% @ * Confirm actions to give effect to Te Komiti Muriwai o te

Whanungatanga Whanga Master Plan.

. Engagement on Conservation Management Strategy.
Engagement and collaboration in management and
restoration efforts.

Local Territorial Authorities
Napier City Council and Hastings District Council:

* Provide local services and facilities, urban and rural planning,

local infrastructure, waste management, community services. .

» Give effect to engagement principles and process determined by Q?ﬂ @ Private Sector
Mana Ahuriri. K\ 4 . . .

« Take into account planning documents prepared or endorsed by = cotahit * Give effect to engagement principles and process determined
Mana Ahuriri. Whakapakari otanhitanga by Mana Ahuriri.

« Confirm actions to give effect to Te Komiti Muriwai o te Whanga ¢ Cultural Values Assessments and Cultural Impact Assessments

for activities carried out by consent applicants.
e Cultural and environmental monitoring to assess and monitor
impacts of activities.

Master Plan.
« Engagement and collaboration on regulatory and non-
regulatory mechanisms administered by Local Territorial

Authorities. * Engagement and collaboration on restoration projects.
« Capacity and capability building partnerships e.g. training,
mentoring, internship programmes etc.
Education Providers Research Partners
» Capacity and capability building partnerships e.g. training, * Research programme development and funding
mentoring, scholarship programmes etc. opportunities.
e Mdatauranga based curriculums, education and outreach . Capacity and capability building partnerships e.g. NGOs
programmes. training, mentoring, internships etc.

* Engagement and collaboration on projects.
« Capacity and capability building partnerships e.g. training,
mentoring, internship programmes etc.
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202 5 MANA AH U R I RI TR U ST Audited Financial Statements for Mana Ahuriri Trust for the financial year end 30 June 2025
- Resolution that the duly audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the period ending 30
HUI A-TAU ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING Y P J

June 2025 be adopted

AGENDA

Note the appointment of Crowe Howarth Accountants as auditor for Mana Ahuriri Trust for
the year 2025-2026.

Date: Saturday 7th December 2024 .
General Business

Time: 9am Appointment of elected Trustees

Venue: Moteo Maras, 48 Moteo Pa Road, RD3, Napier 4183 Resolution to note the appointment of elected Trustees as a result of the Mana Ahuriri Trust

elections

o . Karakia Whakakapi
Mihi Whakatau [ Karakia

Welcome from Chair - Whakawhanaungatanga
Apologies.

Resolution to move and accept the Apologies.
Confirm minutes 7th December 2024.

Resolution that the minutes of the Hui & Tau held 7 December 2024 be received and noted as
a true and accurate record of that meeting.

Annual report on the operations of Mana Ahuriri Trust for year ended 30 June 2025
Resolution to note and receive the 2025 Annual Report of Mana Ahuriri Trust
Annual report for Mana Ahuriri Holdings Partnership Limited for year ended 30 June 2025

Resolution to note and receive the 2025 Annual Report of Mana Ahuriri Holdings Partnership
Limited

THE ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WILL BE AVAILABLE FROM THE MANA AHURIRI TRUST
OFFICE TO MEET THE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS. FOR FURTHER INFORMATION, PLEASE VISIT OUR WEBSITE
WWW.MANAAHURIRI.ORG OR YOU CAN CONTACT THE OFFICE 0508 006262.
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MANA
AHURIRI
TRUST

Mana Ahuriri Trust
Hui-a-Tau, 7 December 2024
Waiohiki Marae, 40-44 Waiohiki Road, RD3, Napier

Mana Ahuriri Trust Trustees:
Te Kaha Hawaikirangi (Chair), Evelyn Ratima (Deputy Chair) Tania Eden, Joseph Reti, Chad
Tareha, Harlem-Cruz lhaia, Morehu Te Tomo and Peter Eden.

Mana Ahuriri Holdings Limited Partnership (MAHLP) Directors:
Mike Pohio, Shayne Walker, Te Kaha Hawaikirangi and Tania Eden.

Manu Ahuriri Trust Investment Advisor
Andrew Harrison (Koau Capital Partners)

Manu Ahuriri Trust Secretary
Heather Johnson

Mana Ahuriri Trust staff
Parris Greening (General Manager), Chelsea Olsen, Tara Brown and Gareth Boyt.

Members in attendance:

Api Robin, Guy Te Kahika, Huriana Lawrence, Horiana Hawaikirangi, Memory Kaukau, Allana
Hiha, Donna Puna-Mangu, Lexia Puna, Ata Te Tomo, Julie Ferguson, Alice Hughes, Tania
Huata, Albe Baker, Hinewai Ormsby, Denise Rowden, Mel Goodchild, Brooke Rowe, Saniah Box,
Hinei Reti, Marewa Reti, Miria Greeks, Wayne Ormsby, Kath Hawaikirangi, Jenny Mauger, Maia
Kaukau, Darren Tareha, Zhane Tahau and Matiu Eru.

Online attendees:
Toro Waaka, Alayna Hokianga, John Akuhata- Brown, Charmaine Butler, Marewa King, Layna
and Peter Pitiroi Robin.

Apologies:

Mana Ahuriri Trust accountant (Oldershaws) and auditor (Crowe NZ), Anne Hiha, Shane Hiha,
Shelley Moana Hiha, Te Po Hawaikirangi, Sandra Mauger, Angela Harmer, Mana Pomana,
Tiana Edwards and Tipene Cottrell.

38 PREVIOUS YEARS MINUTES

Notedthatduetoseveral other Hui-a-Tauscheduled, attendance by whanauwas challenging.

Mana Ahuriri Trust
Hui-A-Tau

Mihimihi and karakia
Te Kaha Hawaikirangi and Zhane Tahau.

Whakawhanaungatanga.
Mana Ahuriri Trust Minutes December 9, 2024.
Opening address

Trust Tiamana, Te Kaha Hawaikirangi welcomed all to the 2024 Mana Ahuriri Hui-A-Tau
acknowledging the commitment and enterprise of MAHLP board member Dick Hilton (recently
passed) supporting and progressing the mahi of both MAHLP and MAT.

In summarising the annual report, it was noted that it is the collective efforts of all that has
moved Mana Ahuriri Trust along the curve closer to delivering the aspirations of whanau.
The disciplined financial framework has resulted in another year’s strong performance with
directors navigating limited putea with vision and foresight, creating and taking opportunity.

Whanau were reassured that Mana Ahuriri will remain transparent and committed to the
mahi to secure a better future for all Mana Ahuriri whanau.

Hui-a-Tau minutes Mana Ahuriri Trust December 9, 2023
No matters arising from the Minutes as presented.

Te PGrongo @ Te Toihau Mana Ahuriri Holdings Limited Partnership (MAHLP)

Tiamana Mike Pohio acknowledged the exemplary contribution to Mana Ahuriri and the
recent passing of board member Dick Hilton.

With Mana Ahuriri Trust now three years post settlement, considerable progress has been
made on limited putea to advance the short to long term goals with the following key
progress points highlighted:

Four hundred houses to be built for whdnau by Mana Ahuriri Trust and joint venture partner
Hapai Housing. Houses will be a mix of rent, rent to buy and ownership. Hapd will be given
every opportunity to contribute to the mahi.

Financial literacy and budget services will be provided by Mana Ahuriri as a wraparound

service to home ownership.
Hawke’s Bay Airport valuation agreed with the Crown. Mana Ahuriri's 50% shareholding in
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this infrastructure is mana enhancing in its significance and will set a precedent. Whanau
will be provided with an opportunity to wananga early 2025 with shareholding opportunity
to be discussed.

Pak n Save value set with settlement pending. This will provide Mana Ahuriri with ongoing
land rental income.

Kaweka Gwavas providing strong financial returns for Mana Ahuriri.

High level of transparency in the financial reports with trustees prudent in their financial
approach.

The pipeline of DSP properties is very exciting with timing the key to acquisition.

Wharerangi - $20million secured for the first stage of the development.

Kaweka Gwavas

Tiamana, Shayne Walker advised whanau the company has had a financially good year
with a lift in rental income.

$15.5 million from carbon credits will be distributed to shareholders.

Discussion around the Pan Pac partnership (owners of the trees) pending, noting that the
relationship between both parties is good

Mihi to previous Mana Ahuriri Trust Kaweka Gwavas director Allana Hiha for her mahi.

Mihi to Directors, Mana Ahuriri Trust Chair, Deputy, Trustees, Andrew Harrison (Koau Capital
Partners), GM Parris Greening and the team for their mahi and ongoing support during the
year.

Mana Ahuriri Trust 2024 Resolutions

Apologies.

Resolution 1: Move and accept the apologies.
Moved: Julie Ferguson; seconded Alice Hughes.
All'in favour.

Confirm minutes 9 December 2023.

Resolution 2: That the Minutes of the Hui-a-Tau held on 9 December 2023 be received and
noted as a true and accurate record of that meeting.

Moved: Chad Tareha; seconded Shayne Walker.

All in favour.

Annual Report on the operations of Mana Ahuriri Trust for the year ended 30 June 2024.
Resolution 3: That the Mana Ahuriri Trust report 2024 be received.
Moved: Miria Greeks; seconded Kath Hawaikirangi.

All in favour.

Audited Financial Statements for Mana Ahuriri Trust for the year ended 30 June 2024.
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Resolution 4: That the duly audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the period ending
30 June 2024 be adopted.

Moved: Peter Eden; seconded Ata Te Tomu.

All in favour.

Note the appointment of Crowe Horwath Accountants as auditor for Mana Ahuriri Trust for
the year 2023-24.

Resolution 5: That the appointment of Crowe NZ as the independent auditor for the 2024-25
financial year be approved.

Moved: Chad Tareha; seconded Marewa Reti

All in favour.

Adoption of Te Muriwai o Te Whanga masterplan.

Resolution 6: That Mana Ahuriri Trust adopt the Te Muriwai o Te Whanga masterplan.
Moved: Allana Hiha; seconded Tania Eden.

All'in favour.

General Business

Ahuriri Station

Concern raised as the viability of Mana Ahuriri building homes in this lagoon area with
whanau advised that this will be a topic for wananga in 2025.

Mana Ahuriri Trust Kaumatua village
Whanau advised that this sits within the long-term plan, but that MAT is not quite ready to
take this step forward.

Mana Ahuriri Limited Partnership
An expression of interest process soon to get underway for a new director for the board
(vacancy due to the passing of Dick Hilton).

Te Muriwai o Te Whanga masterplan.
Hui with local government and key stakeholders to be scheduled in 2025 to endorse and sign
off the plan.

Puketapu bridge

Mihi to Parris Greening, for his mahi in ensuring collaboration of three marae to undertake a
joint cultural impact report for the bridge project. Mihi also to Evelyne Ratima and Te Kaha
Hawaikirangi for their mahi.

Hui whakamutunga Te Kaha Hawaikirangi. Karakia Chad Tareha.
Hui closed at 10.51am.
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Consolidated General Purpose
Financial Report

Mana Ahuriri Trust Consolidated
For the year ended 30 June 2025
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Directory

Mana Ahuriri Trust Consolidated
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Mature of Business

Post Settlement Governance Entity

Commencial Renlal and Propemy Irmestment

Trustees

Te Kaha Hawaikirangi
Chad Tarcha

Evelyn Ratima

Tania Eden

Joe Reti

Peter Eden

Maorehy Te Tomo

Hatem-Cruz | haia

Auditors
Crowee Baw Zealand Audit Partnership

Chartered Accountant
Qldershaw & Co Limited, Napler

Bankers
Westpac New Zealand Limited

ASE Bark Limited

Lolicitors
Langley Twigg, Mapier

Comankdited General Pursasr Fineecial eposl
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Consolidated Statement of Service Performance

Mana Ahuriri Trust Consolidated
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Wha arewe? Why do we exist?

Mana Ahurini Truet (MAT) was ectablizhed to receie, manage, hald, and administer the setthemont assels on behalf of Nga Hagpi
Tokowhitu; Ngati Parag, Ngati Hinepare, Mgati Mahu, Ngal Tawhao, Ngiti TO (Marangatahetaua), Mgati Matepi, and Ngsi Te
Aurybu, Qur role is a5 kaltlakd of the redoess secured throug b the Mana Ahwrn Deed of Settlement, ensuring the legacy of o
tipainy is pratected and grown for future generations,

Wie aist bo ensure that our peaple, whenua, moeana, sad thiss mowve beyond survival into ora. Guided by curvision Ko rua te paia
ko Te Whanga — the storehouse that never clotes = we Stewe To oreate a confinuing state of provision: abundance to sustalm cuar
whdinau and hapl now and in the future,

Qur mission rests on four pow: Mana Tingata, Mana Whenua, Mana Moana, and Mana Ahunin, These nemind us (o maintain a
people facus, a talao focws, and mana motubake in decshon-making,

"What did we do?', "When did we do it?"

S receving seftbement in 20022, MAT has budlt strong governance and operaticnal foundations, Key actions over the past two
years include:

- Establishing ouwr commerncial arm (Mana Ahurirl Heddings LF} to manage and giow our 35561 base, with early facus on
property, housing, and investrment opportunities.

® Farming aperational capabilty to defiver programmies aligniod with uurs:ral_qlc ol — I'I.{H.I’Sﬂ& kSN ora, Laiso,
cuttural revitalisation, and leadership.

. Respending to Cyclare Gabriells (2023} mabilising suppart through Maori-led response networks, allocating resounces
lar whinsu and marse, unlockang kai and sszential wpplies, and guiding Hawlos's Bay recavery at the ﬂ-&iml leademship
table,

. Engaging with whinau and hapd through hul to shape our strategic plan, caltural narratives (e.g, Owen
Sttt Pukempkimesi), 3ad 1o embed tikanga protesses in our develsprments,

# Advancing partnerships soross lecal and central gavernment, iwi collectives, and pelvate sector to unlock funding,
co-imvestment, and strategic infleence {e.g., Ahurin Station, Te Muriwal o Te Whanga, Nagser Airpodt shares),

Description of medium te long term objectives

Qe dlirection is guided by five sirategic pou which set out what suecess looks ke for Mana Ahurir and aur wri:
1. 'whal Rawa - Economic Growth

. Grow the assel base to provide intergenerational wealth,

s Ensure sirong refums/dividends for reinvestment and whinau benefits

. Develop hawsing strategies and progressive protursment pathways,
2. Akures Tuakin - Cultural Identity

Sarergthen whinau cannections with whakapapa, pepeha, and marae,
Suppart b néo mé N tikkanga Maori revitalisation and bilingual initiatives
Establish Kihui Kaumdtua and fdpd Rangatahi to anchor knowledize and puice the futune,

1. Whinau Ora - Thriving Families

. Supgort allend able housing aceess for ur.
Advocate and partner with agendies for whianaw wellbeing culcomes.
Build member profiles to monitor and grow social, health, and economic indicators.

Lenssiidated Gemeril Purpsae Finanasl Sepnrd Wpng Ahgre Frast Consolkdaied Page iof ] T
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Te Taian - Envirsnment

Exercine setive kaitiakitanga over Te Whanganul-8-Ovatd and our wider rabe,

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive

Revenue and Expense

Mana Ahuriri Trust Consolidated
For the year ended 30 June 2025

Develop a Mana Ahuriri Te Taiso Plan, ROTES IIE 3034 RESTATEE
Lead and influence reglonal planning, climate adaptation, and resilence. —
Reyanue
Rangatiratanga - Leadership & Governance Rrvariss rom non-sschangs irsnsacticas.
Grants froen Mos-Exch Trassprrars
Enswre excellent governance and operatioral capability across the Group : i il . b il
Emibed commanications amd engagemant to keep uri infarmied and connected. Hiha Received La5h 1,158
Advocate for our people and place at lecal, reglanal, and national levels. Total Reverae from non-exchange transactions T66,600 £0,35E
Revenue from enchange transactiont o I
Contracl R L1 BOE), DO
Ervvc ey B rowi ded! b LI 53T &S
Rent and Lyags incams T 53,167 204058
Total Revenue from enchange transactions 1235585 741,728
Other Incoms - .
Sefecred Maintemahoe Sanilement 304040
Iterest Beceived A, 57T RIS
GainLoss) er Sale of Fsd ALses 1523
Totsd Other Income SAESTT 1,249,043
Total Resenss 35585 2,151,836
Expenses —
Fenplosis L Gonsirfianicoe Remiunerstion T332 56 S0 ABE
Goymmance Expenses 53,596 BL34E
Cperating Expries 18 1T 305 A4
Service Dovery 11 379848 58 154
Caher Expsriiag 12 30 52 JER12F
Toks! ExpEndes 1,303 283 1,544,173
Surplusf{Deficit) for the period £41,290 507,758
Share of equity accounted investees
Farvrek s Gamvas Forestry Trust 11,90 500 1,064 340
Mana Abeariri Hapai Limiced Partnership [ 14.303)
Total Share af equity accounted investess 15,587 210 1,068,347
SurplusfiDeficit) for the year before tax 11,628,500 1,572,097
Taxation .
Imcome Tan Expan s 3 241,738 LET B4E
Tetal Taragisn 141,738 137 B4E
Surplusf|Deficit) for the year after tax 11,345,762 1,434 450
T sbemants ihould be read In conjunclicn with the Suditor's Report and nokes to the Bnencial staiemenis.
Corsolidabed Genaryl Persae Fingnclyl Mipart  Mard A Tret {onkaldaned Page ket 10 Cofnobd e inrral Perpesr Pnancial Beport Mana Bhet ol Trast Consal daded Fage & al 13
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lu-ﬂ_.'.' L ikt 2304 RESTATED

Other comprehensive revenue and expense
CRanges in Fair Value of Propery 17 {235,000 ITT AR
Toial Dtier comperehensive revenue and expenses (135, i) ETT A1%
Total comprehensive revenue and expense for the year 11,351,762 1,711, 86%

Theiid FEbErnRnle thiould be read in conjunction with the &uditar's Report and nabet ta the fSnsnedal sabemsals

Cisrpaiiclated) Geret il Pampesi Feanaipl AEport
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Mana Ahuriri Trust Consolidated

As at 30 June 2025
o MOTES I N4 RESTATIE
Agcets - -
m' I" I'.‘_B.—-II " — —_— — =
Cash arvd cash equivalents 13 19,945,290 1,585 682
Sho Terrm Ines DT 14 L534 153 LT 47,516
Trade amd Cfher Recovables 15 184, 128 1,TE4 BE3
G5T Ridivalle 1 A5
Encommee Tax Aecenvable 1E7 263
Develapeninl Property 16 15m012% LA, 152
Total Corrent Assets 25,056,643 24,514,200
Hon-Lurrent Assets -
Progperty, Plant snd Equlpersest 17 1,763,713 1,897,173
Irwirilenirt] Properly L8 6,105,461 4.920,190
Investmens in Eguity Accounted Associntes 18 189,412 BF9 5,088 B4
Total Non-Cudrent Asiets IT, ThB, 003 15906203
Tatsd Agsely SE I E5L 40,74 400
Liabilities B o
Curreat Liabiligies .
B Owverdraft 13 &0
Tegde pnd alhies payables ;] 1,195 534 HeALE
Grants Recensed in Advarie 21 4940 00} 383,000
GST Payable L 36946
Income Tax Payshle 2 81,559
iyt ERLillirmsgny 41,835 12,990
Tokal Current Liabilities 1,894,721 1A50.81%
Delerred tax Liability 3 483,351 4TI ETE
Tetal Nan-Currest Liabilitieq 433,251 ATDLETE
Total Lakitites 1,191,871 1,939 ABE
Net Assets 50,043,579 38,790,917
Equity B
Acumuisied Comprehensivg Ryvenst and Erpenss {B4T 196] 11,573,453
Revaliation reseraes 15,584,722 5 A5525T
Seitlements 3L D05 153 35,005 155
Todal Equity 50,043 679 38, 790,91T
Tharsar tlabemanis irould B read in eanjunction with the Audites’s Baport snd moles b e firancial statements.
Comspligyted Grniral Purpotd Firnsnodl Begat Hans ARt Tredl Comalcaled Page 4ol 3T
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Mana Ahuriri Trust Consolidated Mana Ahuriri Trust Consolidated
For the year ended 30 June 2025 For the year ended 30 June 2025
S 014 RESTATED
Equity = Met Cash Flows

Opening Salance WTIIT  3TET47 Operating Acihvies

Comgmehensve Revernse lor the yebr izl e LI1LAM Receipts I B

Toksl Eguity EUE R T B, TH57 Giracts and donations 1467 500

Berid and loase Sl (S0

WAL MM AESTATED Serieatpnided Ao

: Ircame tax refisnded 6,584

Components of Equity — S g k

Accumilated Revenis and Expanse ; oo 282,07
Opening Balance (1,573,453} (2107 480) Payments . ML
Comprehansha Revenus and Expense 1L350.7RY 1537 314 Ermplapees, dregtom and tnatees iT04,257]
Transfer to Bevakiaticn Redervet (10,335, 865 992,347} Suppliers [1,084,855]
Tetal Acomulated Reverwe and Expense (EAT, H96y (1,573,493} Fifmage foite {15]

Property Revaluation Revere A 1136,966)
Optning Balance a B 1,330,496 763,521 b e ey
Trandfer (o] f irom Accumulsied Rnsesge and Expenss (L35, 000 461,975 Total Oparuting Activities 155,981
Tetal Prapery Revaluation Reserve 1,095,494 1,230,455

Invweiting Arthities . e —

Investment Revalwation Beserve i — Receipts - o .
Opering Balance 4 128,761 JARATY Shart T Investnents B6, 000,330
Transfer {tal [/ from Accumulated Reverwe and Expenis 10,450,455 T1% 928 Sale of imae it ment property 1,508,345
Total Investment Reveluation Reserne 14,589,236 4,120,761 Sale of plant and equigment 4

internst 972,217

Settlements — -

Opering Ralance 35,008,153 33,005,153 Dn-l.nl:l.ll.l-nf:!-rmml."r scopunted investees 656 500
Total Settlements 5,005,151 35,005,153 Tozal Receipt 19,247,706
Total Compsnents of Equity 50,047,579 38,790,917 DaprEaT -
Purchaee of plant and eguipment i27.115]

Propery imesimest sod devslopment [13T5, 548

Tofal Payments {1,803, TE4)

Tatal investing Activithes 17,844,943

Tots Net Cath Flews 18,000,832

Movement in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cpering Cash Balanee 1,950 £30-
ief chanpe in cash for the period 13,500 333
Clmsing Cargh Aplarge 19,946, 53
% —
4. fatmar  21)u 2025
Thess stateerents thould be road I Dzergunctios with Ehe Asditod's Repot and notes ta the Frndcsdi sl el Thisse statemants chould ba rasd im conpumctinn with the Auditars Repait and netis bo the Giasncisl ialeresti.
Consoicaled General Purmose Fnancial Report. Mana Alunn Trust Cosanl dated Faps ¥ el 12 Consolkiated General Parpase Fnancisl Reporl. Masna Kl Trest Consatidaied Page 10 of 217
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Consolidated Notes to the Financial Statements

Mana Ahuriri Trust Consolidated
For the year ended 30 June 2025

1. Repaorting Entity

Mana Ahierin Trust (the Group)] is a discretionany trust established by a trust deed dated Jdth Septermber B01E. 1LSar/es 35 3 post
spfrlement govemance entlty and |s recognises as a Maorl Autheeity for tax purposes,

The financial statements of the Groug for the year ended 30 June 2025 comprise the Trust [the Parent] and its subsidiaries: Mana
Ahuriri Heldings Limited Pasinership, Mana Ahuriv Charitable Holdings Limited and Mana Ahyrid Charitable Trust [collectivedy,
the Group).

These are the Group's first Bnancial stacements presented in accordance with PBE Standands RDR. | transiteoning to these
standards, the Group has applied a rumber of transitianal provisions, which ane oullined in Hole 2.

2. Basis of Preparation

These financlal statements have been prepared in accordanoe with the Mew Fealand Generally Accepted Aceaunting Practice
{"HZGAAP"| and cormply with the Pubdic Benefit Entloy Standards Redwoed Disclosure Regime [PBE Standards ROR], a3 applicable
far Tier 2 not-for-profit public benefit entities. Disclesure concessions available under the RDR framework have been applied
wherg apprapriate

Aithough the Group qualifies far Tier 3 reparting an the basi of not being publiclay accountable and having annual expenditure
wnder 55 milBon it has olecied te apply PBE Standards to enhance financial reporting quatity and comparability.

Thie Group has adopted the PBE Tegr 2 ADR Standards far the first ime, Lransitoning rom a special purpese framework, The
tramsition required restatemants and reclassification of items in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. These
changes e noted under Changss in Accoarting Polches and in Hote 26. There was a et reduction in opening equity of
5479671 1o provide for deferred tax on the revaluation of emission trading units beld by equity accounted asseciate Kaweia
Gwawas Farestry Trsst,

The financial statements have been prepared an a histarical east basis, exeent for praperty plant and equipment valued under
the revaluation mede, investment property and gther invesiments that have been measured at Tair value.

The financial statements are presented in Hew Zealand doflars (N25) which is the controlling entily’s functhonal and Groug's
presentaton currency, reunded to the nearest NZ5. There hove been no changes in the functional currency of the contralling
entity during the year,

The fnancial statements wene aulhotised for ssue by Mans Al Trust on ZJ' %i‘ﬂ!ﬁbd zﬂz'cr

Use of Judgements and Estimates

1he preparation of the firancial statements require s managermsent to make jud gements, estimates and assumpthans that aflect
the application of accounting policies and the reparted amounts of assets, labilities, income and expenses. Actual results may
differ fram thase pstimate,

Estirmates and undeclying sssumptions ane rediewed on an ongoing Basis. Rindsions bo estimates are recognised in Uhe period in
which the estimates are revised and in ary (uture periods alected.

ey areas of judgerments made in applying aocounting poticies include the fallowing:

“ determening whether recenue arises from exchange or non-exchange transactions, and whether such resenue is subject to
conditians or restrictions.

a assessing whether an arrangement containg a lease

® evaluating whether the Group has control or significant influence over an investee

- clasailying property bs propecty plant and equipment, developenent property, or investment property

Assumptions and estimates that have s significant risk ef resulting in 2 material adjustment in the year ended 20 June 2005

inlude the follpwing;:

Thiese noles thould be rosd in conjunction with the Aaditor's Report and nobes bo the financlal stalements,
Lol med Generd Moipeds Fnancis Reoot Masa Awrw Tre Consclsdaied Prage Ll el kR

52 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Compolidsled Mobet in the Firascial Shatementy

Oldershazv

Chartered Accountants

fair value meaguremen of property
. valuation of equity-scoounted Investments, including fair value adjustments 1o enderlying assets.

Changes in Accounting Policies

The Group has adopled PBE Tier 2 RDR Standards lor the first time, transitioning from a speclal purpose framework predousty
applied under a for. profit basis. The Group has applied the following Reduced Disclasure conceasions in the transitisn.

. A Toer 2 entity is not required o provide a statement of Bnancial position at the beginning of the comparative peried (1
July 2023). The staterment of financial posithon has been transitioned ag 31 30 fune 2004,
A Ther 2 entity is not required Lo present comparative information in its first set of financial atements. The comparative
infarmation presented in the statement of inancial position is compliant with PEE Tier 2 RDA, however the comparatives
presented in the statement of comprehensive Income and espenses are consistent with the special purpede classilications
in the 2024 audited financial statements. Under PBE Tier 2 Reponting the revaluation of properties would have been split
between wurplus and deficit and ather comprehensive income,

. Mo comparative amaounts are presented for the Statement of Cash Flows, as the Group did net presausly prepare a
Statement of Cash Floaws under (15 former special purpose reparting frasmnework,

. A Tier 2 entity shall include a reconcilistion of net assets/equity reported under special purpose reparting with net
astetsfequity reposted under PRE Tier 3 BDR at the date of transition, Details of the reclassifications and restatements
arising from the transition are disclosed in nate 26

The change has resulted inc

- Amandments to the presentation of the financial statemants

- Reclassification between Balance Sheet items, nal alfecting prior year equity

. Restatemert to Include a provision for defered tax on the revaluation of emission rading units Feld by equity sccounted
asgociate Kaweka Gwavas Foresty Trest. This adjustment reduced phior year equity by 5479672,

. Additional disclosure required undes PEE Standands

The materdal restatemends include:

. 53,388,751 reclassified from Property Plant and Equipment te lavestment and Deweloprent Property
435,005,153 reclassified from Retained Eamings o Settbed Funds
42 175,261 reclassifed fram Retained Eamings to Property Hevaluation Reserve
«  Deberred Tax adjustment 5478 673
The transition has had no effect on the group equity as reported in the awdted 2024 financial statements ofher than the deferred
tax adjustment.

The Group has appled all ather available reduced disclosure concestions.

Changes in Accounting Estimates

The group has changed the depreciation rabe on buildings to reflect management's assessment of the uselul lives of buildings.
This change has been appled prospectively, There 5 no effect on comprehendive income of exkpenss in the current period
because all praperty is revalued to fair volue at balance date,

Basis of Consolidation
contralled Entities

Ihe consolidated linandal statements include the financial statements of the Parent and all subsidiaries cartrolled by the
Parent, Control is established when the Parent is exposed (o, of has rghts, to variable benefits from its invobiement with the
othar aritity and hag the ability o afect the natune o amount of thate benefits through its power over the other entity,

A subsidiary ks consolidated from the date on which the Parent gains contral and continues to be consolidated until the date the
controd iS5 lest. imooms and expenses of sy subsidiany acquired or disposed of during the gear are inclisded in the consalldated
statement of comprehenshe revenue and expenses from the date control ks obtained until the date it Ceases.

Thiese noties ahould b resd in carpunctinn with e Audibed' s Baport 3nd nolid ba the firancial itatements.

Comolidened General Pusnase Foundial Fepert  Mata barisl Teust Desalasited Pajpe L34l 27
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Where necessary, adjustments are made to the Fnancial statements of subsidianes bo alhgn thelr accounting policies with those
of the Group.

Tranzactions with controfled entities are eliminated on congsalidation.
Thig artity has contral ower the following endities:

Relana dhuriri Moldings Limited Pafnership

ana Ahwrin Maragemaent Limited

Mana Ahwrin Charitable Holdings Limited
Mlana Ahrd Charitable Trust

Investments in Associates

Investments in associates are those entities over which the Greup has significant influence but not contrel. Significant influence
is presumed when the Groug holda betwsen 205 ard 50% of the equity and wating interests in the irvestes, and has

representation on the ireestes's governing body.

The Group aceounts far its irmmestments in assaclates using the equity method. Under this method, the initial irestrent S
recognised at cost, orat fair waleein the case of & step acquisition. The carmying amount of the imvestment s subsequently
adjusted to reflect the Group's proportionate share of the investee's net surplus or deficit snd ether comprehensive income,

Distefbutions recehved from an investee, net of transaction costs, reduce the carrying amount of the investment.
There was no impairment recognised for the current financial year (2024:M:0)
The Group halds significant influence over thie following entity:

. Raweka Gwavas Forestry Company Limited (33.34% shane]

Investrments in Joint Ventures

The groug is party to & joint srrangement when there |5 a comtract that confers jaint contral caer the relevant sctnites al the
arrangement to the group and at least one other party. Joint conbnel exists when dedslons abous the relewant activities requine
the unanimgu s consent of the parties that collectively cantrol the arrangement. The Group atooents far its Investments in Ehe
joknt venture using the equity methad, Under this methad, the initial investment i recognised at eoat. The earming amadnt of
the investment ks subsequently adjusted to reflect the Group's propartionate share of the Investee’s net surplus or deficit and

giher comgprehensive income.
The Growp |s party to a joint arrangement with the following entity:

" Mana Ahurirl Hapai Limivsd Partnership (15% share)

Impairment for Non-Financial Assets

The carrging amount of the Group's naomn-financial assets, sther than investment property and deferred tax, are reviewsd at each
reporting date to determing whether there i any indication of impairment. If there is indication of impaiment, then the assets
receverable amount is estimated. Aryimpalement loss ks recogrised in sunplus ar deficit.

Any ienpalrment [oss s reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amouwnt does not exceed the cammying smount that
wold have been determined, net of depreciation oo amartisation, f no impairment loss had been recognrided.

Goods and Senvices Tax

Rewvenue ard expenses have been recogniged in the linaneial statemants exclusien of GAT oeonpt that irrecoverable GET npul Las
has bewn recognised in association with the expense towhich it relates. All items in the Statement of Financial Position are
stated exclushve of 55T except for receivables and payables which are stated inclusive of G5T.

Thetd nisbis showdd be read incosyuncition with the kuditar's Beport and nobet ta tha Seancinl dateeneatie
Corsotidated General Purzase Binancisl Arport  Waea Abunr Trant Conseladatod Fage IV eIT
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Revenue Recognition
Resvenue from exchange transactions:

Revenue from senvioes rendered is recognised in proportion to the stage-of completion of the transaction 2t the reporting date.
The stage of completion is assessed by relemence to a review of the work performed at regarting date. Amounts recelved in
advance far services to be provided in future pericds are recognised as a Habdlity until such tirme a5 the sendos is provided.

Rental income from investment property is recognised on a straight-line basks over the term cf the lease.

Rental income from sublease of operating premises is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the [sase,

Revenu from non-exchange trarsactions:

Hon-exchange transactions are thase where the Group receives an nfow ol rescarces but provides nominal direct consideration
inreturn, Revenue is recognised only when itis probable that the ecanomic benefits will Bow to the Groug, and the amount can
I bl H.-lubl;-. ard fo the extent thal a liakility is not recagnised in respect (o the same inflow,

Linkilfties are recagaised in relation 1o non-exchange transactions when there is a present ohligation to provide futune sendoes
and the amourt of the ohligation can be reliably measured,

Recognition of non-exchange grant revenue depends on the specific stipulations attached to the grant and whether these create
aliability [Le. a present obligation) or allow for revenue recognition, Stipulations classified as "ponditons” require the Group ta
repary the grant if the funds are not used as specified, craating o Eabdlity that delavs revenue recognition until those conditions
aremet. bn conirast stipelations classified as “restrictions” &0 ol reguing repayment if unused, meaning no liability arisas and
revenue (s recognised immediately.

Hen-exchange revenue relating to debt Torgiveness is recognised at the point at which the centractual cbdigations for repayment
of delt are discharged, cancelled, or oxpire.

Entedist indome comprises of inlerest income on investments. Interest income s recopnised as it scorues, using the eflective
interest method,

Development Property

Development Property consists of development properties and development property acquisition costs, 1t is initially measured
at eost and i3 subsequently measuned at the lower of cost of net realisable value, The cost of develepment progenty inclutes
expenditure incwrred on scquisition, conversion and ather costs inourred in brirging prolects ta their exdsting location and

condition. Met realisable vatue is the estimated selling price in the ardinany course of business, less the estimated costs of
completicn and selling expenies.

When development property or Scguisition costs are sold, exchanged ar distributed, the carmyng ameunt is recagnised as an
expénie i9 the pesiod in which the related revenue is recognised. The amaount of any write down and bosses is recagnised as an
expenss in the perigd of write down of loss,

Property, Plant and Equlpment

I of property, plant and equipment ane initialty measured at cast, except those acquired through non-exchange transactions:
which afe indtead measured at fair value 2 their deemexd cost atinitial recognithon, Cost includes expenditure that is directly
atiribustable to the acquisition of the asset.

All of the Group®s itams of property plant and equipment ane subsequently measured in sccardance with the cost moded, except
for land and buitdings which are subsequently mestured in accordance with the revaluation model,

Cost Model:
Cost less accomulated depeeciation and impasnment.
Revalusion Mode!:

These notes should beread im conjunction wirh the Ausitors Regeet amd resties 1o the finsacial slatements
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Assets are stated at Fair value, less accumulated depreciation and impasrment losses recognised since the most recent valuaton
date. Valuations are conducted annually to ensure that the falr value of the revalued aiuel does rot differ from its carrying
amount. Gains and losses on revaluation are recognised in other comprebenshie revenue and presented within the revaluation
sanphus resende in oquity. Any revabuation losses in exceeding the credit balamce in the revaluation surplus ane recognised as an
impainment loss in surplusor deficls

Cost includes expenddune that is directly attrbutable to the acquisition of the asser.
Any gain orloss en disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recogrised Im surplus or deflci.

Upoen disposal of revalued items of property, and assaciated gain or lodses on revaluation to that Hem are transferred from the
revaluation surplus to accumulated surplus,

when the use of a propesty changes from owner-ocougied Lo investment property, the propesty |s remeasured to falr valye and
reclassified as investment property. Any galn or koss on remoasurement i recognised in surplus or deficit to the extent that it
reverses 4 previous impairment inas an the saecific property. Amy remalning gain is recognised in comprehensive revenue and
expense and presented in the revaluation reserve in eguity. Amy loss is recognised immediately i surplus or deficit,

Subsequent expendilune is capitalized anby when it is probabbe that the future cconomic benefits assedated with the
pependiture will flow to the Group, Ongoing repairs and maintenance i!.ﬂp-!nl-td ad incurred,

Bepreciation

Depreciation is recognised in sunphus or deficit on o dimirishing value basis over the estimated wseful e if each companent of
praperty, plant and equipment, Land is not depreciated. Astefs under canstrsction are nat subject bo depreciation.

The Group adopts the useful lves a3 published by inland Revenae as nat materially ditferent to the estimated useful lives of the
FET S

The estimated diminishing value depreciation rakes ane as follows:

Furniture and Fittings 10 - 40% dv

- Office Equipment 50 - GT%
® Plant and Equipment  10-67% dv
s Baildings 0% iy
Imvestment Property

Investment properties ans held by the Group ta eam rental income and capital appreciation rather than for the Company's own
use,

Irvesiment properties are walued at falrvalue with changes in falr value recegnised in surplus/deflicit). Falrvalue is assessed
arnuably with reference to comparable property prices or by making use of yields from existing lease agreements. The key
inpaits under this approach sre the price per squane meter from currgnt year prices.

Thie waluation of investment properties was completed by independent professianal property valuers Added Yaluation. Any gain
o basdt on disposal of an investment propery B recognised Im surplus or deficit,
Employes benefits

Shart-term employee benefit liabilities are recagnised when the Group has a legal or constructheg obligation 10 remunerate
ernployees for senvices provided and that are expected to be settied wholly before 12 manths after the reporting date, Shont
termn ernplowee benelts ane messured on an undiscounted basis and expensed in the peviod in which employment Lensces ane

provided.
Leases
Leases whore the Group assumes substantially all of the risks and rewasnd of cmership are classified as finance leases.

Leases that ase nat linanee lexses are classified as operating leases. Payments made ander operating |eases are recognigsd in
surplus or deficit on 2 Straight-line basis gver the teom of the lease.

Theas frirbes £hould Be read |n conjumctean with tee Auditors Report and notes o the financisl fatementy
Corsolicuied Geseral Pupate Fnancial Bepert  Mana Al Truss Commobdafed Page 1530l
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Finance leases:

Upan initial recognition the leased asset is messured st &n amount equal to the lower of its fairvalue and the present value of
the minimurm lease payments Subisequent to inltial recogndtion, the asset 15 accounted for in accond ance with the accounting
policy applicable to that asset. Each |lease payment is allecated between the linbiliny and finance charges 30 84 1o achicve a
constant rate onthe finance balance autstanding, using the efective interest method.

A tha start of an arrangement the Group determines whether such sn srrangement is o containg a lease. This will be the case if
the folbowing twio critena ane met:

The fuitfilmeent of the arranperment is dependent on the use of 3 specific asiet or axiets, and
The arrangerment contains a fight to wie the assetis)

Provisions

A provislon is recognised I, a5 a result of a past event, the Groug has a present begal or constructive abligation that can be
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation

Financial Instruments

Fenanciad Asgats:

The Group's financial asseis primarily comprise trade and other recefvables, related party loans, and cash and short-term
investrments. The Group classties its inancial attets at amartized cost. Thoy are initlally recagnized at falr value plus
tranzactipns costs that ase directly atiributabde to thelr aoquisition of Issue and are subsequently canred a1 smonised cost using
the cifective interest rate, less provisien for impairment.

Loss albawrances for irsde reteivables are measursd at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit osses. The Group eontsders
reasonabie and supporiabde information that |s relevant and available without undwe cost or elfest. This includes both
guealitative and quantitative infarmation snd analysis. bated on the Growp's historical expedence and informed credit
assessment including foraard-tooking information.

Financlal Liabilities:

The Grawap's financial labilitles comprise of trade and other payables and borrowings. The Group classifies its finandial liab#ites
at arnartised cost,

Imterest bearing borrowings are initially measured at fair value nes of transactions costs and subsequently measured at
amartived cost using the effective interest rate method, which ensunes that any Interest cxpense over the peiod of repayment is
aconstant rate on the balance of the lability,

Income Tax

Tax expense comprises curment and deferred tax, Curment and defermed tax are recognised in sunplus ar delicht except to the
axtent that it related to ltems recognised divectly (n eguity or in other comarehensive income,

Cuprrgnt tax ks the expected tax payable or recereable on the taxabbe income or loss for the year and any adjusiment to tax
payable in respect of presdous years.

Deforrad tax s recognised in respect of temparary differences between the carrying ameunts of assets and Rabilities far fimancial
purposes and the ampunts used bar taxation purpeses. Deferred tas is not recognised for:

. Termporary differences in the initial recognition of astets or liabiltees in a transaction that s not a business combinatian
and that affects neither accounting ner table sunplus or deficit

. Temporary differonces related to investments Im subsidianies and ssccistes, where the reverial of the difference is
cantrolled by the Gooup, and it is prabable that the temporary difference will nol reserse in the ferseeable future,

Deferred tan is measured at the ta rates that are expected to be applied ta temporary diffesences when they reverse, using fax
rates enadted or subsequently enacted at the reporting date,

These notes 2hould be resd inconjumciion with the &uditor's Report and nobes oo the fTranein! stsisments
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Financial redress under Treaty Settlemeat is nol income under section BD 1. The Trestis 2 Macn Autharity for tax purposes,

DI 008 RESTATED
3. Income Tax Expense
Tetal Compahefrsie nsrUE BN Eapsinis 11,493,500 1543515
Tas calculatios ol 17.5% 10u].363 XF3EES
T S |ustrments
Tar onnsn-gedeltibie Incoms [44.325] =
Tax onnon-dedectible experses 95 655 1,354
Tan o finf-SeSu bl SeRnecaationn T 06
Tax on delered maivtenance seitlement {53,500
Tax onchanges i Fair vadue of investment properties p RN LY {48, 546]
Tax onchanged im Fair vatue of msocisies 11,530,531] |L2%.28T]
Tar on tireg diferences 15,384 22,003
Tax on deferred tax movement B35 9,543
Total an [1,7E3,525] f1EE,01%]
Tax empenas lor the yegr JALTIE 137 g4
1025 1M RESTAREDR:
Current Tax Payable
Cunrent Tan | Fayablep/Bec eivable
Dpening Balance 167,361 i T4r
Tax Provision (2L TR |LAT £450
Tax Relumds {167,263} (o4 537
Tax Pagments 28,304
Wilkmolding tas paid 1686TH 0L
Todal Current Tix [Payable] Mecevable {81,059 16T, 263
S M EESTATIO
Deferred Tax
Beferred Tax Asset) {Lisbility) _
Opening balance [ATRETI] (424,514
Ctrent pest mowermenl (kT ] (54, 1581
Total Deferred Tan Assed) (Liakility) {#43,251) (TS, ETH]
Attribetable toc R :
IRtAEETR AL PTORrTe AA0 51 HTRLETIE

Thits salis thauld b rsad | caapenctan with the Asditer's Beport and notes ta the finandclal statemants
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MITS MO RESTATED
Maori Autharity Tax Credit Account
Opering balance 514 365 T ToT
Criffent year moverenit {6,588 77158
Titad Miperi Austbazarity To Cridit A coung 08,200 LR TR S
WIS A EEETATIE
4, Grants from non-exchange transactions
Miniigtry of Housing snd Urban Developmant 383,000
Deparimant of Comsenaiion 100,000 59,000
T Wad Maari Trust - Esvdronmental Grant 255500
Other Grants 1TA50 .
Total Grants from non-eachange trantactions TEE, 250 59,000
038 2004 RESTATED
5. Contract Revenue
Wapler Clby Counch - Theee Waters Better Off Funding 503,000 .
Tosal Comtract Revenue B0D,D00
035 MMM ACITATID
6. Services provided
Cultural & Values Services 37, TTE 190,805
Healih biew Dealsnd Te Whaty Ora 333,453 30,003
Citheey Arvenise LG, 000 30 8TY
Tatal Services prowided 5TE, I3 37 579
038 2434 RELTATLD:
7. Rental [ lease Income
170 Wagheme Strect 40,008 40 i
Conservation House 11,912 L51 550
Fakalop 1,565 12,0
DitPseyr BenLal mcome 31,583
Total Rental | leade Incoms 59,167 0 S50
635 BIMRESTATEDs

B. Empleyes and Governance Remuneration

Germtrniangn Foey *13,817 2 R
Salaries 38240 199,637
Tatal Employee and Governance Rermuneration TIR055 DA
Thes niobis shauld B fasd i oaspunction with [he Auditors Regsadt and nates i the finandal stabements.
Consofidated Geneal Pupsie Rasscisl Beport.  WansAhunn Tru Cotsslidibed Page 18 0d IT
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B3SO BESTATED WIS 34 RESTATED
9. Governance expenses Mon-cancellable lease commitments
AGM Epernes 4,550 LoTE Mot Later than ong year B AT 19,545
Governance Adsninistratica 6,6T4 0,369 Twen 10 five years 5,701 195m
Governance Exsenme B,08) EA00 Toial Kon-cancillsble lease commitmts 39,508 3473
Training - Gowrmance 17,50 a
Mesting Expantes 18,210 1, T Hon-cancellable bease commitments include vehicles and cormputer and oifice eguipment,
Trustes Flection Expenses . I1537
Tt Governance expenses 53,555 81,346 a03%  I034 RESTATEOD
11. Service Delivery Costs
o sl s Coenmercisl Strategy Develeoment Work Conts : 14377
10. Operating Expenses Consultancy 116,387 255,750
ACC Livvy 1509 1121 Contract Wodk 168,533 138,675
Advartiting £ 04 7,841 Feasibdity and acquisition expenses fr
Bank Fees EET TG Funged Expenditune - Better ON Fund A1, BES .
Depreciation 14,848 54,580 Hauora Acthities 89,224 59,562
Electricity Costs 2130 1,518 Tatal Sevvice Beliwery Coita 973,008 454 76
Ealmainmant 1393 E
General Expenses 1513 Lta WX X0ARESTATED
I 52l 4,105 12, Other E
et e L 3 Accountancy Fres T 65,695
IR Panamltae ] 2,458 pove e e ok
Finpatal Sy - i imvestment Managemen - Koau Partners Lid 120,600 1 20,000
Leas on Sal of Fissd Assets k= 2| - Caget Eotl A N
Low Cont Asupt 1,381 538 Vabastlon Fues 6,741 8270
Clice Expaniss 2,000 3247 Total Other ok a2y
Frinting, Postage & Stationeny 3,069 TS
i bin ol i BF M4 EESTATED
Recruitment Costs LE2 840 i
Rental and Leass TN 29,152 13, Cash and Cash equivalents
Fepairs and Maintenance 4,354 LT+ Bank Accounts at Call 1921450 1,955,640
Seminars & Conferences 6,838 a3 Bank Overdrutis : =]
Staf Teaining L Weltyre 1,135 2415 Short Teim Deposits 18021840 .
Staff Lnifamm 1608 5 DiCE: Total Caah ansd Cash equivalents 19,946,290 1,955 830
Subssrption 11,100 5,
Telecommanications 4,127 3105 M O4RESTATED
T - i 14. Short Term Investments
Vsl Epanses 10,315 7.HET Bank Term Deposits P ey
Website Experes 5 7 Tortad Shard Tesmn Envestments 1,554, 148 17,547 536
Todal Operating Expenses 242,722 305,548
Term deposits nclude cash Investments with caiginal maturities of greater than three months. The interest rates applicable ta
shorl Reemmn imvesirmenls are 3. 14%0.a. (o 4.5,
These nates thould be read in conjuncrion with the Auditor's Repert and notes o the financial stasmants. These nates thould ba read in conjumctisn with the Auditar's Repart and nates to the inancial staterments.
Comobdated General Purpeas aandial Bapesr?  Mana Ahurin Tt Consabdined Page 196277 Corrotadptit Givenn Parsosd Foancisl Brpars Vasu dioer Tron Cenuslidised Pags 20af 2T
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E HQEESTATED:

15. Trade and other Receivables

Trade Receivabies from Cocharge Transacticny
Trade Recevabley 185012 L13T, i)
Expecied credit loss provision v -
Todal Trade Receivables from Exchange Transactisns LELET2 5137,
ACCrued ncome 3,183
Prd gyl 14,594 PG
Toial Trade and otber Receivables LB, 123 1, TE4 S5
102% T4 AEETATID
15. Development Property o
Dhrwie| npemsinit Propemy Acquisition 12X 54T 1A4E3.ROD
Development Property Work in Progress - 64 Munnoe 2,14} 5H) 1535850
Total Dewelopmient Property 3370,1%0 3,588, T5>

Development Property Acquisition are costs incunned on deferred selection properties curmenily beld by the Crown, with the
Trust having the option to elect bo purchase or first right of refusal for the prapertics and Irvestmants as per the Ahuriri Hapu
Deed of Settlement, A Balance date tho right to punchase has naot yet Been exercised an any al these properties or investments,

The amount of devolopment property acquisition costs recognised a2 an expende during the pericd was 5553,635. Related Grant

income recepnised as revenue curing the perod was 5389,000,

There wene no resersals of previously weitien down development propey dems. (2034 nil

There were no itemis of development property pledged s secusity against any of the Group's Rabdlities, [3024: nil}

20F 4 RESTATED
17. Progerty, Plant and Equipment
Land and Buildings
Opening falance 1875 000 1,099t
Additiang 2,657
Deprecigtion |0, T3}
R miuation [EELE O (197504}
Tetad Lasd and BuRdings 1,760,000 1ETS, 03
!!piand Equipenent
Ogening Balance FATT 4155
Additions 2103 13.70C
Depreciation (4648 [7.678;
Teral Plarit and Equlpresest EE3d 8,171
These nobes show'd be read |n comjunciion with the &aditas' s Bepart and notes o the financal slatements.
Consclidated General Purposs Findocisl frgo  Minta A Trasl Conuslianed Page I1 o 1T
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IS 2304 RESTATEDs

Offioe Equipment, Furniture and Fittings .
Opaning Balaage 13.995 13015
Addkbions kil 6,310
Tarpanaly {T35) 11,037k
Deepeeciation (14,203} 16,124
Tatal #fice Equipreent, Furniture and Fistings 23,078 L3,
Total Properiy, Plant and Eqeipman 1,769,713 LEFT 174

Land and bufldengs were nevalsed 25 a1 30 June 2025 in accordance with the valuation report dated 30 June 2025 by registened
waluers Added Valuation Limited,

ads  TATE RESTATED:

18, Investmaent Property

As3ets -
Imgstment Property - Acquisition L 655,461 A1, 1 1
Fazipipd Pa Tiea, o] TBO, 000
Fakghe [5 Customs Quay] 3, T, 0ol 1,700 580
Taotal Aswets i 105481 4,520,190
Tatsl lneesiment Property 6,105,461 4,920,190

2005 0% RESTATED:

—

Movement i Investment Property

Opening Balance 4,500,130 1,891 349
Balditicen 1,005 371 ATH00
Irsrreace (decrease ) b falr valioe " 555 332
Tirtal Movernent in investment Property E 115 461 4,930,190

Acquitition casts kawe haen incumed on deferred selection properties cumently held by the Crewn, for which the Trust holds a

right of refusal or an option to purchase, in accordance with the Ahurin Hapu Deed of Settlement. As at balance date, the right to-
purchase had not yet been exercised on any of these properties,

Inwestment propedties are valued at fair valve with changes in fair valee recognised in surplus or deficit, Falr value is assessed
annually with reference 1o comparable property prices or by making vse of vields from existing lease arrangements. The key
inguts under this approach are the price per square meter from current yesr prices.

The fair value of investmiont properties was determined at reporting date by sstemal, independent, qualified property valuers
Added valuaton Limated, with recent experience in the location and category of the investment properties being valued,

There were ne nvestment propertses whene, due to fair valee not being reliably determined, the cost mode! was applied.

Heipipi Pa and Pakeke (S Customs Quay] are held for capltad appreciation, They are culturally significant sites. The title on
Hedpipi Fa contains a requirement for it to remain as a resenee,

Thie nobet s8ould be read in conjunctions with the Auditor's Repaoct and notes Eo the Seancial staterraats.

Cofcleinted Gameral Pagir Finincasl Bepor Mary At Trasd Conselicaied Pupi 33 of 3T
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18, Investments in Equity Accounted Associates

The Group holds significant nfluence over Kaweka Gwarvas Fonestry Trust, witvich iz socawnted for ulln.gt‘h-u lﬂ;'l.l|l‘:|l'i'ﬂ-ﬂhﬂd. Ag
per the Deed of Settlement, a 33.4% share of Kowelca Gwiavas Foresty Trust was received. The transler value was 33.34% of the
wotal transier value af the licensed land, The Kavwexa Gwavas Forestry Company is the Trustee of the Hawelka Gwavas Forestry
Trust, of which Mana Ahurin 5.2 33.34% bentﬁ:ln'y'.

Kaweha Gwavas has the same reporting date a3 the Group, belag 30 June [2024; 31 March), The comparatives were adjusted ta
record the Growp's share of incame g until 30 June 2004,

There were no contingent Babilities in relation to the Group's associates as at reposting date, [3024: nll)
The assets of Kaweka Gwavas Farestry Trust include Land, Land Titles and Emissions Trading Units, These were revalued to fair
waluee a5 at 30 June 20025,

The Group is party to 3 jolnt arrangement with Mana Ahurir Hapal Limited Partnership [25% sharg]. The Parnership has the
sami reporting date 45 the Group.

IS 2004 MEETATIDY

Investments in Equity Accounted Associates

Kaweeks Gwavas Forestry Trust 19,427,232 8,088,843
Manp Ahprin Hapai Parndrship 11430%)
Tetal Investmesrts in Equity Actousrted Associates 19,411,829 5, GEE B

RIS 30 ROFTATIE

Share of equity accounted investees

Kaweka Gwavas Forestry Trugt
Share of surphes - Kaweks Ganavas Faomitry Trusl 11,005,183 1,115,505
Dirlerrind Lae 2,5 (55,158
Tvtal Kawe ka Gwravas Forestry Tnest 13,000 603 1,084 34T

Wana Ahurr Hapal Limited Partnesship

Share of surplus/[defict) [14,333|
Totall Mama Khurirl Hapal Limdted Partnershen (L4353}
Totsl Shin of equity picoumied inveibees 10,987 X185 100 4T

1% B REETATOER

_II:LTnd‘u and Other Pavables N
Westpac Credit Cards (3,045 {3,041
Teae Puyabiieny (934,551) [482, 04020
Apcrued BXpEnSEs 1194, 2415 {34,675]
Total Trade and Ciber Payablet (2,055 H38) [929,818]

Thiese nobes tbould be resd o canjuncton with e Auditar's Repast and notes io tha Srandal satements
Cor-uld sbed Goaeral Pumpéid Finandisl Rape I Pl bwirer Tkl Con Sodza e Paje Xiadar
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2 A EESTATED

1. Deferred Revenue .
Ministry of Mousing and Lirian Development N : 3,000
T Py Kakiri 450,000
Total Deferred Bevenue 490,000 389,000

T Puml Kokin (TPK) has provided funding ve Mana Ahurir Holdings Limited Pannership (MAHLP) to support its contribution to
the “Ahurin Blueprint® by praviding nput info the long - term master planning of Ahurind Staticn.

22, Related Partices

The Growp has the following s related panses:

Controlled Entities

Mana Ahuriri Holdings Limited Parinership was formed for commercial punposes. Mana Ahuriri Management |5 the partner in this
partnership, Mana Aburied Trusi has been (ssued 100 shares in Mana Ahurirl Management Limited, Tania Eden, Te Kaha
Hawalldrangl, Michael Pohia, Sarsh Mikirea and Mathes Walker are Difectors in Mana huriri Management Limited,

Mang Ahuriri Charitabde Holdings Limited was farmed for chasitable purposes. Mana Ahurir Trust has been issued 100 sthares in
Mana Ahurir Charftable Haldings Lirmited. The Directors af Mana Ak Charitable Holdings Limited are the sama as the
Directors of Mana Ahorirl Holdings Limited Partnership. Mana dhurin Charftable Holdings Limibted will hald Housing and
residential investments. It currently holds @ 25% share of Mana shurird Hapad Limited Parinership,

Miana Ahuriri Charitable Trust was lonmed for charitable purposes. It has the same trustees as Mana Alvirin Trust. Mana Al
Charitabla Trust will fund charitable sxpanditure from grants and donations recansid,

Mana Mhuriri Charitable Holdings Limited and Mana Ahigrird Charitable Trust woeee established during the year ended 30 June
078

Key managemont personnel ramunaration

The Group classifics is key management persoanel into cne of three classes:

. Trustees of the gaverring body

. Dirgctors of contralled ertities

- Senlor executive officers, responsiile lor reporting to the gaverming body

Senior exegutive oificers ate empboyed as employees of the Group, on narmal emalayment terms,

The aggregate level of remuneration paid, and the numbser of persans for membaers of the peverming body and directors, [and full
tirne equlvalents for Senlor exsoutive officers] In each class of key management person el is presented belaw:

TS I RESTATIE

—_—

Key management Personnel remuneration

e ——

Mernben of the governing bosty {2023: 3, 1024; 10 jLi, B | Li
Desectord of Conballed Entified (1025 §, 2024: 6] 105 366 115 200
Senlor evecwtive officers (2025 1, 2024: 1} 130,685 100,00
Teaal Ky manasgement Personnel remmineration 349,500 335, T34

Thiese nobes showld be read in conjunciion with th Ausitors Begarm asd rstog i ke inancisl sEstements

Corsoldated Geraral Purposs Finarcis Beport  Mana Shana Trus Cesobdated Page #Mal 7T
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Other related parties
Current Trustess:

Chad Tareha is an elected representative for Napier City Council. The trust recepsed funding of 5600,000 from Nagiesr City Counicil
in relaticn to Theee Waters Batter O Funding.

Formaer Trustoes:

At Balance date the fallawing amaunt is swing o Farmer Trustess, This s currently In dispute awaiting the cutcome of court
procesdings,

G503, 334 {Micha; 5507 334]
These are ind uded in Trade Payablos
Management Services:

HKoau Partriers Limited prevides property and investment management sendices to Mana Ahudin Holdings Limized Partnership,
including praviding key managerent serdces. During the year ended 30 June 2025 the Group paid Koau Partners Limited fees
of 510,000 |2004; 51.30,000)

23, Commitments

The trist has no capital commitments as at 32 June 2025 (2024: M)

24, Contingent Liabilities
The group had nao contingent Habilitees as at 30 June J035, (2034 Nil)

25, Events after reporting date

A binding election 1o purchase the Cwen Street progery was submitted ta LING in fugust 2025, and the back-lo-back sale
throwgh to Mana Ahurid Hapal Jaint Venture is urconditional.

Abinding election to purchass the Whargrangi Road property was submitted in August 2025, and a back-to-back sale through o
Manas Ak Hapai Joint Yentune s inconditipnal. Settiement is planned for Noeember 2025,

Wharerangi Boad was soquired fram the Crown on 31 October 2025, with the sale of the commercial superiol to Metlilecane
gaing uncanditianal on the same date,

Thaiis Sabid shisuld B rkdd |0 conjunction with the Audine's Report and notes bo the firansial i aferents
Cevinalicaied General Purgase Financial Report. Wana Aheeird Trst Coron b sted Fage 1504 11
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26, Summary of Effects of Changes in Accounting Policies

Assata:

Cath & Cazh Equivalents
Trade and Other Receivables
Associate Current Account
Developmant Property
Incorme Tax Receivable
Teren Investments
PFroparty, Mant & Equipment
Imvestment Property
Invcestrent in Assaciates
Tetal Assets:

Liabilithes:

ASH Bank

Trade and Other Payables
Winearmed iIncome

GST Payable

Employes Entitternents
Dreferred Tax

Total Lisbitithes:

Met Assots:

Equity:

Retamed Eamings

Irreestment Bevialeation Reserde

Property Revaluation Reserve
Settlements

Total Equity

2004 Audited
1,555,650
1,797 506
259,139

167,263
17,515,000
5,357,114
4,460,000
8,829,701
40,341,403

136,946

39,270,589
36,086,953
4,128,761

344,155

39,270,588

Oldershaw
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Mgsement 2034 Restated
1,965 B8O
32536 1,764 GEn
250,130
3,380,751 3,280 751
L6T 263
33,536 17,547 536
-3,459,941 1,837,173
450,190 o 930 190
259,030 9,088 B4D
184,000 40,730,402
1]
=13,55%0 319,814
385,000 159,000
136,946
13,930 13,990
4T6T2 4T9 ETE
868,672 1,939,486
479,672 38,791,917
-37 660,086 -1,57% 493
4,128,761
2,175,261 1,330,436
35,005,153 15,005,153
-4T3,ET1 38, T#0 90T

TEean rstad should be fegd in confunciion with the Auditor's Report and motes to the financial statements.
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Crowe New Zealand Audit Part-

nership
ChEﬂETEd AECDI.H'“E I'I:TS Building A, Level 1, Farming House
211 Market Street South, Hastings
4122
PO Box 941
Hastings 4156 New Zealand
Thie mosvement detail is as Tollows: Main
, +64 6 872 9200
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT Fax +64 6 878 3953
Restatements with no effect on group squity: Www.crowe.nz
Resiate acorued interest from receivables (o R0 B investments and cash & cish eguivalents 31,536 To the Beneficial Owners of Mana Ahuriri Trust
Restale FsA0ciate Curment aCoount 1o imvestment [n assodiates 159,133 Opinion
Restate grant received rom investment property 10 wnedmned income B3, 000
: o : e R - S We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Mana Ahuriri Trust (the Trust) and its controlled
a 1 - L= L gl it WD ey . . . . . "
e it b b e i kb g entities (the Group) on pages 6 to 27, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
Restate investment property resenves to retained earmings 184 556 at 30 June 2025, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive revenue and expense, consolidated
pitata i Sk e e o bl 13,990 statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes

to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
Bestate sattbements from ratained earnings to settled Rinds 35,005,153
Restate from Property, plant & equipment to investment praperty and develagment property 3,358 751 In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2025, and its consolidated financial per-
formance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Public Benefit Entity
Deferred tax provision on Emission Trading Unils 479,072 Accounting Standards Reduced Disclosure Regime issued by the New Zealand Accounting Standards
Board.

Restatements resulting In a reduction In group squity:

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) (ISAs (NZ)).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with Professional and Ethical Standard 1 Infernational Code of Ethics for Assurance
Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in, Mana Ahuriri Trust or any
of its controlled entities.

Information Other Than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report

The Trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Directory on page 3 and the consolidated statement of service performance on pages 4 to
5, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

Findex (Aust) Pty Ltd, trading as Crowe Australasia is a member of Crowe Global, a Swiss verein. Each member firm of Crowe Global is a separate and

Thiegi peotes chould B read in conjuncton with the Auditor's Report and nofes otk linancial (Eatementy independent legal entity. Findex (Aust) Pty Ltd and its affiliates are not responsible or liable for any acts or omissions of Crowe Global or any other
member of Crowe Global. Crowe Global does not render any professional services and does not have an ownership or partnership interest in Findex
s = (Aust) Pty Ltd.
ot idated Genaral Purpose Finanoil Repert Bang Afagrin Trung Conaciidaled Page 37 ol 3T

Services are provided by Crowe New Zealand Audit Partnership an affiliate of Findex (Aust) Pty Ltd. © 2025 Findex (Aust) Pty Ltd
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Trustees are responsible on behalf of the Group for the preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Public Benefit Entity Accounting Standards Reduced
Disclosure Regime issued by the New Zealand Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal control
as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (NZ) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (NZ), we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

= Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

= Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

= Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the Trustees
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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= Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

= Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for the purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

= Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for the audit opinion.

We communicate with the Trustees regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

Restriction on Use

This report is made solely to the Group's Beneficial Owners, as a body. Our audit has been undertaken so
that we might state to the Group's Beneficial Owners those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Group's Beneficial Owners as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

o

Crowe New Zealand Audit Partnership 25
November 2025

The title ‘Partner’ conveys that the person is a senior member within their respective division and is among the group of persons who hold an equity interest
(shareholder) in its parent entity, Findex Group Limited. The only professional service offering which is conducted by a partnership is external audit, conducted
via the Crowe Australasia external audit division and Unison SMSF Audit. All other professional services offered by Findex Group Limited are conducted by a
privately owned organisation and/or its subsidiaries.
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MANA
AHURIRI
TRUST

WEBSITE

www.manaahuriri.org

ADDRESS

170a Waghorne Street
Ahuriri, Napier 4110

PO BOX 12076,

Napier 4144

PHONE/EMAIL

0508 00 6262
info@manaahuriri.org

—

=

MERI KIRIHIMETE

from
MANA AHURIRI TRUST

Mai a matau te whanau o Mana Ahuriri Trust kia koutou
ngd hau e wha, Meri Kirihimete.
Kia haumaru te noho ki nga topito o te motu.

Toitd Te Tiriti
Toitd Te Whenua
Toitd Te Mana Motuhake

Mana Tangata ~ Mana Whenua ~ Mana Moana ~ Mana Ahuriri



